
City of Bethel 
         P.O. Box 1388 

    Bethel, Alaska 99559 

      Phone: 907- 543-2047 

         Fax: 907-543-3781 

Regular City Council Meeting 

Tuesday, October 24, 2017 

    6:30 P.M. 

Council Chambers; Bethel, Alaska 



Agenda posted on October 18, 2017, at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing November 14, 2017. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
October 24, 2017 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

Rick Robb 
Mayor 

Term Expires 2018 
rrobb@cityofbethel.net 

Fred Watson 
Vice-Mayor 

Term Expires 2018 
fwatson@cityofbethel.net 

Leif Albertson 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2019 
lalbertson@cityofbethel.net 

Mark Springer 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2018 
msprigner@cityofbethel.net 

Naim Shabani 
Council Member 

Term Expires 2019 
nshabani@cityofbethel.net 

Thor Williams 

Council Member 
Term Expires 2019 
twilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Mitchell Forbes  

Council Member  
Term Expires 2019 
mforbes@cityofbethel.net 

Pete Williams 

Acting City Manager 
543-2047 
pwilliams@cityofbethel.net 

Lori Strickler 

City Clerk 
543-1384 

lstrickler@cityofbethel.net 

Patty Burley 

City Attorney 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. ROLL CALL

IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD – Five minutes per person

V. APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA AND REGULAR AGENDA

VI. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES

a) *10-10-2017 Regular Meeting 

b) *10-16-2017 Special Meeting 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEE

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS

a) Appreciation for Alisha Welch (Mayor Robb)
b) Appreciation for Michael Shantz (Mayor Robb)
c) Proclaiming the Month of November 2017 as “National Diabetes Month”

(Mayor Robb)
d) Health Fitness Monthly Report On The YK Fitness Center (Mayor Robb)

IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

a) Public Hearing Of Ordinance 17-45: Amending Fees And Charges Related To
Planning Services For Tall Towers (City Manager Williams)

X. NEW BUSINESS

a) *Introduction of Ordinance 17-46: Amending The Bethel Municipal Code 
Chapter 4.16.160 Tax Exemptions Rental Units Tax Exemption On Fuel And 
Electricity (Council Member Shabani) 

b) *Introduction of Ordinance 17-47: Supporting The Amendment To The 
Official Map And Land Use Code (City Manager Williams) 

c) *Resolution 17-19: Authorizing The Issuance Of A Utility Revenue Bond Of 
The City In A Principal Amount Not To Exceed $913,000 To Finance Water 
And Wastewater Utility Improvements; Creating A Lien On Net Revenues Of 
The City’s Water And Wastewater Utilities For The Payment Of The Bond; 
Providing For The Date, Terms And Covenants Of The Bond; And Authorizing 
The Sale Of The Bond To Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Or A Wholly 
Owned Subsidiary Of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, Pursuant To 
The Terms And Conditions Provided In This Resolution (City Manager 
Williams) 

d) AM 17-65: Postpone Until November 28, The Agenda Items Set For The
November 14, Regular City Council Meeting Due To A Lack Of A Quorum For
The Council’s November 14 Regular Meeting (Mayor Robb)

p.5
p.13

p.24
p.25

p.45

p.47

p.49

p.76

mailto:rrobb@cityofbethel.net
mailto:fwatson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lalbertson@cityofbethel.net
mailto:msprigner@cityofbethel.net
mailto:nshabani@cityofbethel.net
mailto:twilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:mforbes@cityofbethel.net
mailto:pwilliams@cityofbethel.net
mailto:lstrickler@cityofbethel.net


Agenda posted on October 18, 2017, at City Hall, AC Co., Swanson’s, and the Post Office.  

_________________________     
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
(Items on the agenda noted with an asterisk (*) are considered the consent agenda. 
All Resolutions noted with an asterisk (*) will automatically be adopted on the consent agenda unless removed from the consent agenda by Council.  
Ordinances introduced with an asterisk (*) on the consent agenda will automatically be introduced and set for Public Hearing November 14, 2017. 
The Council may, after 12:00am, and only by a unanimous consent vote to Fix the Time to Which To Adjourn for the following day at 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
October 24, 2017 – 6:30 pm 
City Hall 300 State Highway, Bethel, AK 
City of Bethel Council Chambers 

e) *AM 17-66: Approve The Mayor’s Appointment Of Mary Nanuwak To The 
Public Safety And Transportation Commission For A Term Of Three Years 
(Mayor Robb) 

f) AM 17-67: Authorize The Installation Of Art In The YK Fitness Center As
Agreed To In The Memorandum Of Agreement Between The City Of Bethel
And Bethel Community Services Foundation And Rasmuson Foundation For
The Tier 2 Grant: Art Project (Mayor Robb)

g) AM 17-68: Direct The City Administration To Research The Appropriate Lifting
Equipment Needed To Conduct Necessary Maintenance At The YK Fitness
Center (Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Committee)

h) AM 17-69: Direct Administration To Prepare A Resolution Supporting Bethel
City Council’s Legislative Priorities For The FY 2019 State Of Alaska Capital
Budget (City Manager Williams)

i) AM 17-70: Authorizing The City Manager To Negotiate And Potentially
Contract With The Top Scorer(s) For Planning And Engineering Services (City
Manager Williams)

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT

XII. MANAGER’S REPORTS

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT

XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

a) In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of
Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The
Public Entity- Union Negotiations (City Manager Williams)

XVI. ADJOURNMENT

p.77

p.78

p.83

p.84

p.86



Approval of the Meeting Minutes 



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

Regular Meeting 
October 10, 2017 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Regular Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on October 10, 2017 at 6:30 p.m., 
in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
Susan Nezda- School Counselor at BRHS, requested the Council’s participation 

at a school event Thursday night to help encourage the youth of our 
community to stay in school and progress towards graduation.  

 
Council Member Springer arrived at 6:32p.m. 
 

Mary Nanuwak- Questioned a statement made by a council member and stated 
concerns that all cab drivers are bootlegging in our community. Continued 
to address the council regarding the issues arising from the use of alcohol in 
our community.  

 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Mark Springer (arrived after roll call) 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Leif Albertson 

Council Member Naim Shabani Council Member Michael Shantz 

Members Absent:   

Council Member Alisha Welch    

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams (Telephonically)  City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

5



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

Michelle DeWitt- Provided an update on the art selection process for the YK 
Fitness Center to the City Council.  

 
David Trantham – Informed the Council that the gravel that is being placed on 

the roadways is being pushed to the side of the road, the Council should 
consider pulling the gravel out of the ditches and put it back on the road.  

 Thanked the Council Members for their service to the community.  
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE CONSENT AND REGULAR AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani     Shantz 

Opposed:  0 

 

Removal from 

Consent: Remove Ordinance 17-45 from the consent agenda.  

Moved by: Robb 

 
VI. APPROVAL OF THE MEETING MINUTES 

 
Item A – 9-26-2017. 
Passed on the Consent Agenda 
 

VII. REPORTS OF STANDING COMMITTEES 
 

Public Safety and Transportation Commission- 
The Commission has one vacancy, those interested should contact the City Clerk’s Office.  
 
Port Commission- 
No one available to provide a report.  
 
Planning Commission- 
The Planning Commission will hold a meeting on October 12th to consider the 
Conditional Use License for Northwest Company’s Alcohol Beverage Control Board 
Package Store License.  
 
Parks, Recreation, Aquatic Health and Safety Center Committee- 
Considered privatizing parks and recreation services for the City. The committee has 
worked up a plan to include financing and structure of the program.  
A Kasayuli Park Development meeting was held a week ago to have a community 
review of the potential locations in the subdivision. The Committee will be providing a 

6



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

recommendation that the two designated properties are again designated as Park 
Development property.  
The Committee will be putting an Action Memorandum together for the Council’s 
consideration to procure necessary equipment to repair some of the fixtures in the 
pool area.  
 
Finance Committee- 
A meeting has not been held since the last City Council Meeting.  
 
Energy Committee- 
Nothing to report.  
  
Public Works Committee- 
Nothing to report.  
 

VIII. SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
Item A – Review Canvass Board Certificate Of Election, October 5, 2017 (Mayor Robb) 
[Not Available Until After The Canvass Board October 5, 2017]. 

 

Item B – Resolution 17-18: Certifying The Results Of The City Of Bethel, Regular 
Municipal Election Held October 3, 2017 (Mayor Robb) [Not Available Until After The 
Canvass Board October 5, 2017]. 

 
Main Motion: Adopt Resolution 17-18. 

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Albertson  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Shantz 

Opposed:  0 

 

Item C – Oath Administered To Newly Elected Council Members. 

 

Mitchell Forbes, R. Thor Williams, Naim Shabani, Leif Albertson, Mark Springer, 
and Richard Robb were administered their oath of office and took their place on 
the council bench. 

 
Standing Council Members are: 
 

Richard Robb 
Leif Albertson 
Fred Watson 
Mark Springer 

7



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

Naim Shabani 
R. Thor Williams 
Mitchell Forbes 

 
IX. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

Item A –  Public Hearing of Ordinance 17-44: Authorizing The Acquisition And 
Disposal Of Property To Yuut Elitnaurviat Pursuant To BMC 4.08.030(B): Reacquire 
Land From Yuut Elitnaurviat And Re-Dispose Of Property To Yuut Elitnaurviat. 

 

     Mayor Robb opened the Public Hearing. 
Dennis Dishion, spoke in favor of the Ordinance and provided a summary of 
the effect of the ordinance for the Council.  

     Mayor Robb closed the Public Hearing.  
 

Main Motion: Adopt Ordinance 17-44. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Shabani  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-1 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Forbes 

Opposed:  Williams   

 

Subsidiary Motion: 
Suspend the rules to hear from Dennis Dishion, Yuut Elitnaurviat as well as the 
representative from the Jason Brown, First National Bank Representative.  

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

Primary 
Amendment: 

Amend to direct administration to modify Article 8 of the lease agreement to reflect 

the amendments provided by the City Attorney as follows: 

“ARTICLE 8 – OPTION TO PURCHASE LAND 

 
LESSEE has expressed an interest in purchasing the Leased Land from the 

CITY.  CITY hereby conveys to LESSEE an option to purchase the Leased Land.  CITY 

agrees not to assign the Lease in any way for a period of at least thirty-six (36) 
months from the commencement of this Lease Agreement (or until October 11, 2020, 

whichever comes first).  During that time, LESSEE may exercise its option and 
purchase the land from CITY.  Any such sale would terminate the LEASE without 

penalty. 
 

8



5 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

The sale and purchase of the Leased Land will be done in accordance within 
the requirements of Section 4.08 of the Bethel Municipal Code. and shall only occur 

upon the mutual agreement of both the LESSEE and the CITY.  This Lease Agreement 
shall not be construed as mutual agreement between the parties.  Mutual agreement 

shall occur independently of the Lease and requires an actual written request by 

LESSEE and an actual acceptance via Ordinance by CITY.   
 

The purchase price of the Leased Land in the event of the exercise of LESSEE’s option 
will be the value given in the most recent appraisal of the Leased Land, dated July 14, 

2016, subject to an update if more than eighteen (18) months elapses from the time 
of this lease to the time of the purchase.  This appraisal (page 42) lists the value of 
the said Land at $770,000 (the “Purchase Price”).  If this option is exercised, the CITY 
shall, upon payment in full of the Purchase Price by LESSEE, transfer said Land via 
warranty deed to the LESSEE, at which time this lease will end.  The close of sale will 
take place within 90 days of LESSEE’s exercise of its option.  Prior to the close of sale, 
the CITY will assume responsibility for title insurance, and LESSEE will assume 
responsibility for any inspection or testing of the Leased Land.  The CITY shall convey 
the land free and clear of any encumbrances, and the CITY assumes responsibility for 
costs incurred by reason of its inability to convey clear title.  Each party shall bear its 
own legal costs in connection with the exercise of this option.” 
 

Moved by: Albertson 

Seconded by: Shabani 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-1 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Forbes 

Opposed:  Williams   

 
Secondary 

Amendment: 

Amend the Primary Amendment to insert “request to” before “exercise its options 

and” in the first paragraph fifth line down.  

Moved by: Watson  
Seconded by: Williams  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Secondary 

Amendment: 

Amend the Primary Amendment to strike the last paragraph of the proposed 

amendments to Article 8. 

Moved by: Williams 
Seconded by: Springer 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 1-6 

In favor:  Williams   

Opposed:  Albertson   Forbes  Robb   Watson   Springer   Shabani   

 
Primary 

Amendment: 

Motion to postpone and direct administration to renegotiate the lease agreement 

with a focus on ensuring the City’s rights to the easements are maintained.  

Moved by: Williams  

Seconded by: Springer 
Action: Motion does not carry by a vote of 2-5 

In favor:  Watson   Williams  

9



6 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

Opposed:  Forbes  Albertson   Springer   Robb   Shabani   

 
X. NEW BUSINESS 

 
Item A – Introduction of Ordinance 17-45: Amending Fees And Charges Related To 
Planning Services For Tall Towers. 

 
Main Motion: Introduce Ordinance 17-45. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Albertson  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

Item B – AM 17-61: Appointment of Alyssa Gustafson to the Public Works 
Committee. 

 

Passed on the consent agenda.  

Item C – AM 17-62: Reappointment of Committee and Commission Members- Brian 
Lefferts/Park, Recreation, Aquatic, Health and Safety Center Committee- Richard 
Pope/Port Commission. 

Passed on the consent agenda.  
 
Item D – AM 17-63: Appointment of Monroe Tyler to the Public Safety and 
Transportation Commission. 
 
Passed on the consent agenda.  

 
Item E – AM 17-64: Direct Administration To Sign The Obligating Award Document To 
Accept $126,055 In Funding From Alaska Division Of Homeland Security And 
Emergency Management For The Purchase Of GIS Mapping Services, Repeaters For 
Radios, And Two ALERRT Active Shooter Training Courses. 

 
Main Motion: Approve AM 17-64. 

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Forbes 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 

XI. MAYOR’S REPORT 
XII. MANAGER’S REPORT 

10



7 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

XIII. CLERK’S REPORT 
XIV. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Richard Robb-Thanked the community for voting in the recent election. Encouraged 
people to be careful of the weather.  
 
Leif Albertson-No comment.  
 
Fred Watson- No comment.  
 
Mark Springer-Thanked the community for elected him to another term. Expressed 
sympathies to Greg and Kelly Lincoln for the loss of their daughter.  
 
Naim Shabani-Thanked the community for voting him on to City Council.  
 
R. Thor Williams-Thanked the community for elected him to City Council. Thanked the 
Police Department for their continued work on the home invasion that occurred at his 
home last week.  
 
Mitchell Forbes- Thanked the community for elected him to City Council.  
 

XV. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Item A– In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of 
Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- 
Union Negotiations. 

 

Item B– In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge Of 
Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public Entity- 
Court House Leased Property Contract. 

 

 

 
 

Main Motion: 

Move into Executive Session- 
Item A- In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge 

Of Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public 

Entity- Union Negotiations. Those attending Item “A” were: City Clerk, City Attorney, 
City Manager, Finance Director, and Human Resources Manager.  

Item B- In Accordance With AS 44.62.310 C 1 Matters, The Immediate Knowledge 
Of Which Would Clearly Have An Adverse Effect Upon The Finances Of The Public 

Entity- Court House Leased Property Contract. Those attending Item “B” were: City 

Attorney, City Manager and City Clerk.  

Moved by: Springer 

11



8 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 10, 2017 

Seconded by: Williams  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Council Member Springer departed the meeting at 10:55p.m. 
 

XVI. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment. 

Moved by: Shabani 

Seconded by: Albertson 
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 6-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson  Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
 
Council adjourned at 11:10 p.m. 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

12



1 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 16, 2017 

Special Meeting 
October 16, 2017 

 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER   

 
A Special Meeting of the Bethel City Council was held on October 16, 2017 at 6:30 p.m., 
in the council chambers, Bethel, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Richard Robb called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. ROLL CALL 

 

 
IV. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD   

 
No one present to be heard.  

 
V. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Consent and Regular Agenda.  

Moved by: Springer 

Seconded by: Shabani  
Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
 

          City Council Meeting  
       City of Bethel, Alaska 

Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following members were present: 

Mayor Rick Robb Council Member Mark Springer 

Vice-Mayor Fred Watson Council Member Leif Albertson (Telephonically) 

Council Member Naim Shabani Council Member Thor Williams 

Council Member Mitchell Forbes  (Telephonically)  

Members Absent:   

 Also in attendance were the following: 

City Manager Pete Williams City Clerk Lori Strickler 

City Attorney Patty Burley  

13



2 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 16, 2017 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

 
Item A- Election Of The Mayor. 

 
Nomination: Albertson 

Motion: 

Second: 

Williams  

Springer 

 
 

Nomination: Watson 

Motion: 
Second: 

Springer 
Williams 

 
 

Nomination: Robb 

Motion: 
Second: 

Shabani 
Springer 

 
 
Round One Voting 
 
4 Votes for Rick Robb 
3 Votes for Fred Watson 
 
Richard Robb was elected Mayor by the Council. 
 

Item B -Election Of The Vice-Mayor. 

 
 

Nomination: Watson 

Motion: 
Second:  

Springer 
Williams 

 
 

Nomination: Albertson 

Motion: 
Second: 

Albertson 
Springer 

 
 
Round One Voting 
 
5 Votes for Watson 
2 Votes for Albertson 

14



3 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 16, 2017 

 
Fred Watson was elected Vice-Mayor by the Council. 

Item C- Appointment Of Committee/Commission Council Representatives and 
Appointments To Non-Standing Committees. 
 

1. Council Committees and Commissions 
a. Planning Commission: 

 Council Member Williams is appointed to the Commission. 
b. Finance Committee: 

Council Member Albertson is appointed to the Committee. 
c. Public Safety And Transportation Commission 

Council Member Shabani is appointed to the Commission 
d. Energy Committee: 

Council Member Springer is appointed to the Committee. 
e. Port Commission: 

 Council Member Robb is appointed to the Commission 
f. Public Works Committee: 

Council Member Watson is appointed to the Committee. 
g. Parks, Recreation and Aquatic Health and Safety Committee: 

Council Member Forbes is appointed to the Commission 
h. Community Action Grant Technical Review Board: 

Council Member Albertson is appointed to the Board 
 

Main Motion: Approve the Mayor’s appointment to the City’s Committees and Commissions.  

Moved by: Springer 
Seconded by: Shabani  

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
2. Senior Center Advisory Committee (Quarterly Meetings): 

Council Member Shabani is appointed to the Committee. 
3. Yuut Elitnaurviat:  

Council Member Forbes is appointed. 
4. Transit Committee:  

Council Member Springer is appointed to the Committee. 
5. Delta Tobacco Control Alliance Member And Alternate: 

Vice-Mayor Watson is appointed. 
Council Member Albertson is the Alternate. 

6. Kuimarvik Board Representative:  
Mayor Robb is appointed. 

 
Council concurred to the appointments. 

15



4 
 
City Council Meeting Minutes  City of Bethel, Alaska 

  October 16, 2017 

 
VII. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

Main Motion: Adjournment. 

Moved by: Williams 

Seconded by: Shabani 

Action: Motion carries by a vote of 7-0 

In favor:  Robb   Albertson   Watson   Springer   Shabani   Williams   Forbes 

Opposed:  0 

 
Council adjourned at 6:48p.m. 
 
 
 

 
 
_________________________ 
Richard Robb, Mayor  

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk   

16



 

Reports of Standing Committees  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17



Received by: _____________________ 
        Date: _____________________  

 

 

 

Committee/Commission: PRAHC Committee Chairman: M. DeWitt 

Date Submitted: 10/09/2017 Council Rep: Fred Watson 
    

Issue: 

AVCP Housing has provided the City with an $83,000.00 settlement. 

Recommendation: 

The Committee wishes to recommend that City Council dedicate the entirety of this settlement to 

rehabilitative maintenance to be performed at Owl Park. 

 

Passed unanimously by the PRAHSC Committee on 10/09/2017.  

  

CCiittyy  ooff  BBeetthheell  
CCoommmmiitttteeeess  aanndd  CCoommmmiissssiioonnss  

 

RReeccoommmmeennddaattiioonn  ttoo  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  
Committees and Commissions that wish to make a recommendation to City Council should turn this 

form in to the City Clerk or to the City Council representative on the committee or commission. 

18



Received by: _____________________ 
        Date: _____________________  

 

 

 

Committee/Commission: PRAHC Committee Chairman: M. DeWitt 

Date Submitted: 10/09/2017 Council Rep: Fred Watson 
    

Issue: 

There are two Tracts of land in Kasayuli Subdivision designated as Community/Recreational. That 

designation occurred many years ago. It would be helpful for the purpose of continuing a Kasayuli 

Park development discussion to have this designation in a more current record. 

Recommendation: 

The Committee would like Council to reconfirm the designation of Tracts D and H in Kasayuli 

Subdivision as Community/Recreational. 

 

Passed unanimously by the PRAHSC Committee on 10/09/2017.  

  

CCiittyy  ooff  BBeetthheell  
CCoommmmiitttteeeess  aanndd  CCoommmmiissssiioonnss  

 

RReeccoommmmeennddaattiioonn  ttoo  CCiittyy  CCoouunncciill  
Committees and Commissions that wish to make a recommendation to City Council should turn this 

form in to the City Clerk or to the City Council representative on the committee or commission. 

19



 
City of Bethel, Alaska 

Public Works Committee- Amended Agenda 
Wednesday, October 18, 2017 Regular Meeting 5:30PM City Hall Council Chambers 

 

Public Works Department 

Posted: October 12, 2017 - City Hall, Post Office, Swanson’s, AC Store 
 
 

 
MEMBERS 

Joseph Klejka 

Committee Chair 
Term Expires 

12/2017 
 

Jennifer Dobson 
Committee V. Chair 
Term Expires  

12/2017 
 

Scott Guinn 
Committee Member 
Term Expires  
12/2017 
 

Robert Champagne 
Committee Member 
Term Expires  
12/2017 

 

Not Yet Assigned 
Council Rep. 
Term Expires 
 

Bill Arnold 
Ex-Officio Member 
 

Grant Kemp 
Committee Recorder 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 
II. ROLL CALL: 
III. PEOPLE TO BE HEARD: – (5 Minute Limit) 
IV.      APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
V.      APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

A. – September 20, 2017 Regular Meeting 
VI.     SPECIAL ORDER OF BUSINESS: 

   VII.     UNFINISHED BUSINESS: 
A. Institutional Corridor Piped Water Supply Project 
 
B. Sewer Lagoon  

 
C. Leveling of the Bethel Heights Water Treatment Plant Building:----

Scott Guinn 
 

D. Clarification of BMC sections on ownership of water/sewer 
facilities 

 
E. Ridgecrest Drive Road Update 

 
F. Snow Removal From Neighborhoods:---- Scott Guinn 

 
G. Landfill closure study and new landfill site: 

 
 

VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 
A. Increase price for Hauled Utilities after-hour calls 

B. Support for tractor trailer purchase 

 
IX.     DIRECTOR’S REPORT:   

       X.     MEMBER COMMENTS: 
     XI.     ADJOURNMENT: 
 
 

20



21



22



 

Special Order of Business 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

23



  
City of Bethel Proclamation 

 
Proclaiming the Month of November 2017 as “National Diabetes Month” 

 
 

WHEREAS,  over 30 million adults in the United States and approximately 11% of adult 
Alaskans have a diagnosis of diabetes; and 

WHEREAS,  every year an estimated 3,000 people in Alaska are newly diagnosed with 
diabetes; and 

WHEREAS,  one out of three U.S. adults has prediabetes, with 90% of these adults being 
unaware of their disease, and without lifestyle changes, 15-30% of those with 
prediabetes will develop type 2 diabetes within five years; and  

WHEREAS,  a child has a 1 in 7 chance of developing diabetes if one parent was diagnosed 
before age 50; and 

WHEREAS,  during National Diabetes Month, we recognize the impact diabetes has on 
people’s everyday life; and  

WHEREAS,  according to national data individuals who are in a high risk category for 
developing type 2 diabetes are people who do not participate in regular 
physical activities, are overweight, and are 45 years or older; and  

WHEREAS,  during National Diabetes Month, the American Diabetes Association, the Alaska 
Department of Health and Social Services and many healthcare providers such 
as YKHC encourage Bethel residents to join all of us in eating healthier, getting 
more physical activity, and reducing stress throughout this month;   

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Richard Robb, Mayor of the City of Bethel, do hereby proclaim the 
month of November 2017 as “National Diabetes Month” and November 14th as “World 
Diabetes Day” in Bethel and encourage all Bethel residents to make healthy life choices and 
make a personal commitment to eat healthy, exercise, and reduce stress. 

IN OFFICIAL RECOGNITION WHEREOF, I hereby affix my signature on this 24th day of October 
2017. 
 
 _____________________________ 
  Richard Robb, Mayor 
_____________________________ 
 Attest:  Lori Strickler, City Clerk 

24



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 1 of 19 

Holiday Schedule: 

Below is the holiday schedule for the remainder of FY18.  All dates listed were included in the FY18 Operations plan 

except the early closing date on Dec 1st. This date has been added to accommodate the Fitness Center Staff Holiday 

Gathering.  Previously we have held our staff gatherings on Mondays so they did not interfere with operations, but 

now that we are open on Mondays that option is no longer available.  Opportunities for staff to get together are an 

important part of staff cohesion, so we feel being able to have our staff gathering is important.  We selected a Friday 

early in December as Fridays are typically the lowest usage evening and least likely to cause conflicts and are posting 

the closing now to assure ample time to alert patrons.  

 

Thanksgiving Day: 11/23/17 Closed 
YKFC Staff Holiday Gathering: 12/1/17 Open 5:30am-4:30pm 
Christmas Day: 12/25/17 Closed 
New Year’s Eve: 12/31/17 Open 9am-4pm 
New Year’s Day: 1/1/18 Open 2pm-9pm 
Easter: 4/1/18 Open 2pm-9pm 
Memorial Day: 5/28/18 2pm-9pm 
 

Staffing 

Operational Staff:  

 Our Operations Manager has had to leave Bethel to take care of family, and we are currently looking for a 

replacement.  The position title has been changed to Customer Service Manager to reflect the role of this 

position in providing a high level of customer service to our patrons and the community.  

 Lifeguards:  Looking for 2-3 certified lifeguards able to work daytime and weekend hours.   

o Free Lifeguard training will be offered January 2-6, 12-7pm 

 

Programming Staff: We are still looking for programming staff to fill the below roles: 

 Swim Instructors 

 Swim Coach: Swim coach is not required to be American Red Cross Certified, but must have experience with 

competitive swimming and an interest in coaching Adult Masters Swimming and Youth advanced through 

competitive swimming. 

 Fitness Instructors and Certified Personal Trainers 

 Instructors for any activity, craft or music patrons might be interested in learning.  

Anyone interested in working with us can call 543-0390 or visit ykfitness.org for information. 

 

Programming 

Fitness and Aquatic Classes: Fall 1 classes began September 5th and end October 23rd.  Fall 2 classes begin October 

30th.  

Rentals:  September rentals included 5 parties and 4 hours of studio rental.  

Basketball: During October we will be hosting open gym sessions at BRHS with Women’s basketball from 2-4pm and 

Men’s basketball from 4-6pm.  In November we will host league basketball and we are looking at possibilities for 

other activities. 

25



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 2 of 19 

Facility Maintenance 

Water Usage for September was within normal range.  

 
*Note: Facility opened in November of 2014 

Warranty Maintenance:  Bethel Contracting has completed work on the roof and has sealed most of the windows.  A 

few windows still need to be re-sealed on the outside and interior repairs and corrections are scheduled to be 

completed in late October/November or when they are able to procure the resources to be able to reach the 

windows and panels near the ceiling in the pool area.  

 

Routine Maintenance:   

 Pool 

o Clean hair strainers and backwash  

o Cleaned chlorine feeder 

 Spa 

o Cleaned UV strainer 

o Cleaned and tightened chlorine feeder tubes 

 

Corrective Maintenance: 

 LONG Technologies completed a site visit on 9/22/17, report of work is attached.  

 Front Doors, adjusted malfunctioning door swing closer 

 Front Desk area – replaced pipe coupling to stop leak 

 Fitness –  

o adjusted treadmill level to clear incline error 

o Repair handle cover on elliptical 

o Upright punching bags – cleaned out water and replaced with sand, repaired broken cover 

o Cleaned and oiled cycles 

 Pool Covers –  

o #6 - replaced broken cable clip  

o #1 - replaced frayed strap, 

26



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 3 of 19 

o #2 adjusted cable deployment reel 

 Locker Rooms 

o Women’s Locker Room – shifted shoe cubbie to front lobby area, replaced damaged tiles, replaced 

missing screw on locker door #17 

o Men’s Bathroom – cleared men’s shower drains 

o Family Locker room – suit extractor out of order, replacement parts ordered 

 Boilers – replaced fuse on Boiler #1 

 

Maintenance needed: 

 Men’s Locker room gaskets on handle to shower #2 need to be replaced to prevent leaking inside the wall.  

 Airlocks – we are finding that both the pool and spa regularly develop airlocks when being backwashed.  While 

the airlocks are easy to release, we are trying to determine why they are occurring to avoid them.  Update:  We 

have found an air leak in pool filter tank #2 that seems to be the cause of the air leak for the pool.  We are 

looking at best options for correcting the leak.   

 Boiler #2 needs replacement of relief valve.  Working with City Maintenance to schedule and complete 

replacement.  

 

Previously reported maintenance still pending: 

 Overhead fans in pool area need maintenance. Working with City Facilities Department to develop a plan for safe 

access to trouble shoot the fans.  

 Solenoid controlling the relay locking mechanism for the Family Locker room door has malfunctioned.  The part 

was special made for that relay assembly, we are working with the company attempting to get a replacement 

part.   

 While moving cardio machines we found that the treadmills are wearing groves into the linoleum in some places 

and causing the linoleum to bubble in others.  Need to look into alternative flooring options for under these 

pieces.   

 Experiencing leaking from shower handles, need to replace gaskets and seals.  Update: review of the shower 

system is underway to determine if a different shower handle assembly would be in the best interest of the 

facility in the long run.  Working with City Staff to gather information.  

 Experiencing difficulties with BIAMP Interface modules for playing music in the cardio/weight room and studio.  

We are reviewing system to determine whether they can be fixed or will need to be replaced.  

 

  

27



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 4 of 19 

Revenue 

 

FY18 Revenue 

 
 July Membership Revenue includes payment for LKSD FY18 Contract. 

 

Revenue Comparisons FY17-FY18 

 

 

  

Code Facility Revenue Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Total FY18 Budgeted%attained

414 Memberships $94,430 $9,948 $17,239 $121,617 $372,000 32.69%

430 Pro Shop $3,283 $3,246 $3,426 $9,955 $39,675 25.09%

435 Concessions $4,078 $4,685 $5,635 $14,399 $49,200 29.27%

460 Entry Fees $6,162 $7,629 $5,955 $19,747 $78,480 25.16%

463 Facility Rental $661 $801 $542 $2,005 $12,750 15.73%

465 Program Fees $2,741 $3,046 $7,053 $12,840 $90,500 14.19%

Facility Revenue Total $111,356 $29,355 $39,850 $180,562 $642,605 28.10%

July August September

FY17 Monthly Revenue Total 31,432.99$    26,142.38$ 24,866.93$ 

FY18 Monthly Revenue Total 111,355.68$ 29,355.49$ 39,850.34$ 

28



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 5 of 19 

 

FY18 Expenses 

 
*Wages are paid every 2 weeks.  Most months include 2 pay periods, September includes 3. 

  

Comparison of Monthly Expenses 

 
  

Expenses Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Total Budgeted % used

Salary Time Wages $10,000 $10,110 $20,989 $41,098 $233,050 17.64%

Hourly TimeWages $17,300 $18,171 $29,147 $64,618 $331,500 19.49%

Benefits $5,527 $5,957 $11,198 $22,682 $117,310 19.33%

521 Housing $3,000 $3,000 $3,090 $9,090 $37,080 24.51%

545 Travel/Training $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,731 0.00%

561 Supplies $2,520 $6,925 $10,929 $20,374 $95,696 21.29%

580 Boiler $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,250 0.00%

646 Contractors $11,667 $11,667 $23,334 $144,200 16.18%

661 Vehicle Maintenance/Repair $0 $0 $0 $750 0.00%

663 Janitorial Supplies/Services $219 $49 $134 $402 $20,400 1.97%

668 Software Licenses $405 $0 $423 $828 $6,869 12.05%

683 Minor Equipment $0 $0 $0 $10,500 0.00%

684 Donations and Awards $90 $0 $90 $500 18.00%

721 Insurance $1,225 $1,225 $1,225 $3,675 $15,515 23.69%

724 Dues/Subscriptions $169 $169 $169 $508 $1,965 25.85%

727 Advertising $203 $168 $0 $372 $10,000 3.72%

733 Postage $0 $0 $0 $0 $500 0.00%

736 Bank Charges $0 $0 $990 $990 $14,060 7.04%

790 Allowance for Special Events $0 $0 $0 $0 $800 0.00%

799 Miscellaneous $0 $0 $0 $0 $5,058 0.00%

TOTAL $52,327 $57,441 $78,293 $188,061 $374,875 50.17%

Monthly Expenses July August September

FY17 39,144.81$ 70,113.85$ 75,717.39$ 

FY18 52,326.83$ 57,440.90$ 78,292.78$ 

29



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 6 of 19 

Facility Utilization 

Facility Check-In: Facility Check-In numbers represent the total number of patrons who visited the facility and are 

based on a compilation of the number of members who checked-in, the number of daily passes sold and the number 

of participants in programs, activities, rentals and special events.  These numbers represent facility visits, not 

individuals as most individuals visit the facility multiple times over the course of the month.  

 

 

 

 September FY18 checkins include 284 visits by swim team members for swim practice. 

 

 

Area Usage: Count of the number of individuals in each area at the top and bottom of each hour.  Showing trends 

and patterns of area usage, these numbers are not an accurate reporting of the overall number of patrons using the 

facility as patrons who remain in any area for more than 30 minutes are counted more than once. The below charts 

show average number of users for each area, by day of the week, per 30 minute period and are used from 

programming and operational hours planning.   

For September 2017 we began tracking the use of the cycles we have put up in the hallway.   

Facility Check-In Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Total

Member Checkins 1,983 2,347 2,737 7,067

Daily Admissions 1,258 1,432 1,706 4,396

Rentals 25 62 105 192

Events 0 0 0 0

Fitness Programming 48 68 249 365

Aquatics Programming 20 30 98 148

Youth Programs 14 34 41 89

Monthly Totals 3,334 3,939 4,895 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12,257

Facility Check-In July August September

FY17 3,108 3,596 3,579

FY18 3,334 3,939 4,895

Difference 226 343 1,316

30



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 7 of 19 

Combined Facility Totals 

 
 

   

31



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 8 of 19 

 
 

  

32



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 9 of 19 

 

   

33



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 10 of 19 

  

  

34



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 11 of 19 

 

 

  

35



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 12 of 19 

 

 

 

  

36



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 13 of 19 

September 2017 Monthly Facility Averages 

 

 

 

Total: Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Total: Saturdays Sundays 

6:00am 5.5 11 10.5 9.5 4.8 6:00am

6:30am 17.25 23.75 22.5 16.25 8 6:30am

7:00am 14.5 20.25 19.5 12.75 7.8 7:00am

7:30am 9.75 16.25 14.75 10.25 5.6 7:30am

8:00am 1.75 4 3.25 3.75 3 8:00am

8:30am 2.5 4.25 2.5 6 3.4 8:30am

9:00am 5 5.5 8 9.25 6.2 9:00am

9:30am 2.75 7.25 9.5 9.5 5.2 9:30am

10:00am 5.5 11.25 11.5 12.5 8 10:00am 2.4 2.75

10:30am 5 10.25 13.5 13.75 6.6 10:30am 9.8 15.25

11:00am 2.75 8 9.75 8.75 6 11:00am 13.4 13.5

11:30am 1.5 4 7.75 6.25 4.8 11:30am 14.4 18

12:00pm 5.5 4.25 12.5 7.5 7 12:00pm 20.6 13.75

12:30pm 2.5 8.25 9.75 10.25 10.4 12:30pm 20.8 10

1:00pm 9.5 5.75 17 5.25 3.8 1:00pm 12.4 15.5

1:30pm 17.25 19.75 24.5 14.5 4 1:30pm 18.8 22.75

2:00pm 14.25 23.75 15 17.75 5 2:00pm 30 31

2:30pm 3.25 8 4.25 6.25 5.8 2:30pm 42 29.25

3:00pm 3.25 3.5 3 6.25 7 3:00pm 39.8 29.75

3:30pm 7 3 5 4.75 9.8 3:30pm 36.4 32.5

4:00pm 11.25 4.75 4.75 8.5 10.2 4:00pm 40.2 32.25

4:30pm 9.75 5.5 4.25 10 8 4:30pm 44 27

5:00pm 20 19.25 11.75 10 10.4 5:00pm 41.4 32.5

5:30pm 21.5 21.75 18.75 16 15 5:30pm 29.6 23.5

6:00pm 20.25 29.75 25 22.75 17.4 6:00pm 29.4 17.25

6:30pm 19.75 34 28 28.75 16.8 6:30pm 25.6 22.5

7:00pm 11.5 26.25 31.75 30.25 15.4 7:00pm 26.8 26.5

7:30pm 11.25 18.5 31 17.25 19.4 7:30pm 27.4 23.25

8:00pm 9.75 17.5 20.75 15 15 8:00pm 13.2 14

8:30pm 6 3 2.25 5 5 8:30pm 2.2 1.5

37



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 14 of 19 

September 2017 Monthly Area Averages 

 

 

Pool Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Pool Saturdays Sundays Spa Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Spa Saturdays Sundays 

6:00am 1.25 3.75 3 3.25 1.4 6:00am 6:00am 0 0 0 0 0 6:00am

6:30am 10.75 13.25 11.5 8.25 3.8 6:30am 6:30am 0.5 0.5 0.75 1.25 0 6:30am

7:00am 9.75 14 12.75 8.25 7.8 7:00am 7:00am 0.25 1 0.25 1 0.2 7:00am

7:30am 9.25 14.25 12.25 7.75 7.4 7:30am 7:30am 0 0.5 0.25 0.25 0 7:30am

8:00am 0.25 2.75 1.75 2 1.6 8:00am 8:00am 0.5 0.25 0.25 0 0.6 8:00am

8:30am 0.25 2.5 1.25 2 0.8 8:30am 8:30am 0.5 0.25 0 1 0.6 8:30am

9:00am 1 2.75 1.75 3.75 2.6 9:00am 9:00am 0.25 1 2.25 0.5 0.8 9:00am

9:30am 1 3.5 3.5 4.25 2.8 9:30am 9:30am 0.25 1.25 1.25 0.5 0.8 9:30am

10:00am 4 3.75 8.5 5 5 10:00am 1.8 1 10:00am 0.25 1.25 0.5 0.75 0.6 10:00am 0 0

10:30am 3.75 5 9 4.75 4 10:30am 6.8 7.25 10:30am 0 1.25 0 1.25 0.4 10:30am 1.2 1.5

11:00am 0.5 2.75 3.5 3.25 1.8 11:00am 9.6 6.25 11:00am 2.25 1.25 1.5 0 1.8 11:00am 0.4 1.5

11:30am 0.5 3 5.25 4 3 11:30am 11 12.25 11:30am 0 0.5 0 0.5 0.4 11:30am 2 1.25

12:00pm 0.5 3.5 9.25 4.75 4.8 12:00pm 17.4 8 12:00pm 0.25 0.25 0 0.5 1.2 12:00pm 0.2 1.75

12:30pm 0.5 3 7.5 5.5 7.2 12:30pm 17 5.25 12:30pm 1 0.75 0.5 0.25 1 12:30pm 2 2.25

1:00pm 8.25 1 14.75 3 2.8 1:00pm 9 11 1:00pm 0.25 0.5 0 0 0.4 1:00pm 1.2 1.25

1:30pm 16.75 17.5 21 13 2 1:30pm 15.6 17 1:30pm 0.25 0.75 0.75 0 0.6 1:30pm 1.8 1.25

2:00pm 13.25 20.25 12.5 14.5 2.8 2:00pm 24.8 22.25 2:00pm 0.75 0.5 0.5 0.25 0.6 2:00pm 3.2 2

2:30pm 1.5 4.75 0.75 2 3.2 2:30pm 35 18.5 2:30pm 0.25 0.75 0.75 0.25 0.4 2:30pm 2.2 4

3:00pm 2.75 1.25 1 2.25 4.4 3:00pm 32.4 21.5 3:00pm 0 0.5 0.25 0.25 0.8 3:00pm 3.6 1.25

3:30pm 4.75 0.5 1.25 1.5 5.8 3:30pm 27.4 23.75 3:30pm 1.25 0 0 0.75 1 3:30pm 4.8 2.75

4:00pm 2.75 1.25 1 4.25 6.2 4:00pm 33.8 23.25 4:00pm 0.75 0 0 1.75 1.4 4:00pm 3 2.75

4:30pm 2 2 1 4.75 7.2 4:30pm 34.8 18.25 4:30pm 0.5 0 0.5 0.75 1.4 4:30pm 3.8 1.5

5:00pm 4.25 10 4 4.5 7.8 5:00pm 32.2 22 5:00pm 0.25 0.75 0.25 2 1 5:00pm 2.6 4.5

5:30pm 5.75 13.75 9.75 12.5 11 5:30pm 23 16 5:30pm 0 1 1.5 0.25 3 5:30pm 2.8 3.5

6:00pm 6 21 12.5 20 11.8 6:00pm 22.8 12 6:00pm 0.5 3.25 2 0.5 1.4 6:00pm 2.2 1.75

6:30pm 8.5 22.75 16.75 22.75 9.8 6:30pm 18 15.5 6:30pm 1 3 2 0.75 2 6:30pm 3.2 2.5

7:00pm 7 19.5 19.75 18.75 12.4 7:00pm 19.8 19.75 7:00pm 1.25 3.25 2.25 2.25 1 7:00pm 2 4.75

7:30pm 5.25 11 16.5 8.5 13.2 7:30pm 18.2 14.75 7:30pm 1.5 1 2 0.5 3.6 7:30pm 4 5.25

8:00pm 2.5 8.75 9.75 6.5 9.8 8:00pm 7.6 10.25 8:00pm 2.25 2 2 2.25 1 8:00pm 2.4 3.5

8:30pm 0 0 0 0 3 8:30pm 0 0 8:30pm 0.25 0 0 0 0 8:30pm 0.6 0

38



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 15 of 19 

 

   

Studio Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Studio Saturdays Sundays Fitness Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Fitness Saturdays Sundays Bikes Mon. Tues Wed Thurs. Fridays Bikes Saturdays Sundays 

6:00am 1.25 0.75 0.75 1.25 0.8 6:00am 6:00am 2.75 6.5 6.5 4.75 3.2 6:00am 6:00am 0.25 0 0.25 0.25 0 6:00am

6:30am 3.25 3.25 1.75 1.75 2.2 6:30am 6:30am 2.5 6.5 8.5 4.75 3.8 6:30am 6:30am 0.25 0.25 0 0.25 0 6:30am

7:00am 2 1.5 1.75 0.5 1.2 7:00am 7:00am 2.25 3 3.75 3 3 7:00am 7:00am 0.25 0.75 1 0 0.2 7:00am

7:30am 0 0 0.25 0 0 7:30am 7:30am 0.5 1.5 1.75 2 1.4 7:30am 7:30am 0 0 0.25 0.25 0.2 7:30am

8:00am 0 0 0 0 0 8:00am 8:00am 1 1 1.25 1.75 1.4 8:00am 8:00am 0 0 0 0 0 8:00am

8:30am 0 0 0 0 0 8:30am 8:30am 1.75 1.5 1.25 3 2.8 8:30am 8:30am 0 0 0 0 0 8:30am

9:00am 0.25 0 0 0 0 9:00am 9:00am 3.5 1.75 3.75 5 4.4 9:00am 9:00am 0 0 0.25 0 0.2 9:00am

9:30am 0 0 0 0.25 0 9:30am 9:30am 1.5 2.5 4.75 4.5 3.6 9:30am 9:30am 0 0 0 0 0 9:30am

10:00am 0 0.5 0 0 0 10:00am 0.2 0 10:00am 1.25 5.5 2.5 6.75 3.4 10:00am 0.4 1.75 10:00am 0 0.25 0 0 0 10:00am 0 0

10:30am 0.25 0 1.25 0.25 0.2 10:30am 0.6 1.25 10:30am 0.75 4 3.25 7.5 2.4 10:30am 1.2 5 10:30am 0.25 0 0 0 0 10:30am 0 0.25

11:00am 0 0 1.75 0.5 0.2 11:00am 0.4 2 11:00am 0 4 3 5 2.8 11:00am 3 3.75 11:00am 0 0 0 0 0 11:00am 0 0

11:30am 0 0 0 0 0 11:30am 0 0.75 11:30am 1 0.5 2.5 1.75 1.8 11:30am 1.4 3.5 11:30am 0 0 0 0 0 11:30am 0 0.25

12:00pm 0 0 0.5 0.25 0.6 12:00pm 1.4 0.25 12:00pm 4.5 0.5 2.75 2 2 12:00pm 1.6 3.5 12:00pm 0.25 0 0 0 0 12:00pm 0 0.25

12:30pm 0 0.25 0 0 0.6 12:30pm 1.4 0.25 12:30pm 1 4.25 1.75 4.5 2.6 12:30pm 0.4 2.25 12:30pm 0 0 0 0 0 12:30pm 0 0

1:00pm 0 0 0 0.25 0 1:00pm 0.6 0.75 1:00pm 1 2.75 2.25 1.75 1.2 1:00pm 1.6 2.5 1:00pm 0 1.5 0 0.25 0 1:00pm 0 0

1:30pm 0 0.25 0.5 0.25 0.2 1:30pm 0.6 0.75 1:30pm 0.25 1.25 2.25 1.25 1.4 1:30pm 0.8 3 1:30pm 0 0 0 0 0 1:30pm 0 0.75

2:00pm 0 1 0.25 1.25 0 2:00pm 1 2.5 2:00pm 0.25 2 1.75 1.75 1.8 2:00pm 1 3.25 2:00pm 0 0 0 0 0 2:00pm 0 1

2:30pm 0 1.25 0 2.25 0 2:30pm 1.4 3.5 2:30pm 1.5 1.25 2.75 1.75 3.4 2:30pm 3.4 3.25 2:30pm 0 0 0 0 0 2:30pm 0 0

3:00pm 0 0.75 0 0.75 0.2 3:00pm 1.2 4.75 3:00pm 0.5 0.75 1.75 3 3.6 3:00pm 2.4 2.25 3:00pm 0 0.25 0 0 0 3:00pm 0.2 0

3:30pm 0 0.75 2.25 0.75 1.2 3:30pm 0 4.5 3:30pm 1 1.75 1.5 1.75 3.6 3:30pm 4 1.5 3:30pm 0 0 0 0 0 3:30pm 0.2 0

4:00pm 5.25 0 2.25 1 1.4 4:00pm 1.6 4.75 4:00pm 2.25 1.75 1.25 1.5 3.8 4:00pm 1.8 1.25 4:00pm 0.25 1.75 0.25 0 0 4:00pm 0 0.25

4:30pm 3.75 1.75 1 0.25 1 4:30pm 4.2 3.75 4:30pm 3.5 1.75 1.75 4 1.6 4:30pm 1.2 3.25 4:30pm 0 0 0 0.25 0.2 4:30pm 0 0.25

5:00pm 10.5 4.5 3.75 1 0.4 5:00pm 3.6 2.75 5:00pm 4.75 4 3.75 2.5 2.8 5:00pm 3 3 5:00pm 0.25 0 0 0 0 5:00pm 0 0.25

5:30pm 11.75 3.5 3.25 1 2 5:30pm 0.4 2.25 5:30pm 4 2.5 4.25 2.25 2.2 5:30pm 3.4 1.5 5:30pm 0 1 0 0 0 5:30pm 0 0.25

6:00pm 9.25 2.25 6 0.25 3.2 6:00pm 1.4 2.25 6:00pm 4.5 3.25 4.25 1.75 2.8 6:00pm 3 1.25 6:00pm 0 0 0.25 0.25 0.2 6:00pm 0 0

6:30pm 7 3.75 3.75 0.25 2 6:30pm 0.6 2.75 6:30pm 3.25 4.5 5 4.25 3.6 6:30pm 3.8 1.5 6:30pm 0 0 0.5 0.75 0.2 6:30pm 0 0.25

7:00pm 1 0.25 2.25 2 0.4 7:00pm 1.2 0.75 7:00pm 2 2.5 7 5.75 4 7:00pm 3.8 1 7:00pm 0.25 0.75 0.5 1.5 0.4 7:00pm 0 0.25

7:30pm 1.5 3.25 4.5 3 0.2 7:30pm 0.8 1 7:30pm 2.75 2.75 7.5 4.75 6 7:30pm 4.4 1.75 7:30pm 0.25 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.2 7:30pm 0 0.5

8:00pm 1.25 4.5 3.75 3.75 0 8:00pm 0.6 0 8:00pm 3.25 1.5 4.5 2.5 5 8:00pm 2.4 0.25 8:00pm 0.5 0.75 0.75 0 0 8:00pm 0.2 0

8:30pm 2 3 0 3 0.2 8:30pm 0 0 8:30pm 3 0 2.25 1.5 1.8 8:30pm 1.4 1.5 8:30pm 0.75 0 0 0.5 0 8:30pm 0.2 0

39



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 16 of 19 

 

Concessions Monthly Comprisons FY17 and FY18 

 
 

 
  

Concessions 

Item Totals
July August September October NovemberDecember January February March April May June Total

FY17 800 1,042 1,055 1,245 1,188 1,079 1,250 1,379 1,552 1,361 1,364 1,456 14,771

FY18 1,467 1,698 2,067 5,232

Value Change 667 656 1,012 -9,539

Concessions 

Sales Totals
July August September October NovemberDecember January February March April May June Total

FY17 $2,384.89 $3,157.11 $3,092.41 $3,769.41 $3,426.47 $3,185.55 $3,648.41 $4,247.30 $4,669.61 $4,009.62 $3,958.30 $4,024.27 $43,573.35

FY18 $3,954.28 $4,650.93 $5,633.56 $14,238.77

Value Change $1,569.39 $1,493.82 $2,541.15 -$29,334.58

40



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 17 of 19 

Pro Shop Monthly Comprisons FY17 and FY18 

 
In comparing July 2016 and July 2017 we sold more pro shop items, but had a lower total revenue.  This is due to the lowering of prices on some items such as 

goggles and swim wear in an effort to make essential items more affordable for patrons.  Most of the price changes occurred during August of 2016 and August 

comparisons show a more representative revenue change between years.  

 

 

Pro Shop 

Item Totals
July August September October NovemberDecember January February March April May June Total

FY17 297 259 215 330 262 253 205 260 322 294 308 321 3,326

FY18 322 284 301 907

Value Change 25 25 86 -2,419

Pro Shop 

Sales Totals
July August September October NovemberDecember January February March April May June Total

FY17 $3,913.00 $2,850.50 $2,092.54 $3,365.62 $2,231.18 $2,490.62 $2,239.62 $2,777.95 $4,032.94 $3,483.89 $3,253.72 $3,382.17 $36,113.75

FY18 $3,289.74 $3,247.54 $3,365.77 $9,903.05

Value Change -$623.26 $397.04 $1,273.23 -$26,210.70

41



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 18 of 19 

 

42



YKFC Monthly Report September 2017 10/17/2017 

  
 

Page 19 of 19 

 

43



 

Unfinished Business  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



Introduced by: City Manager Williams 
Introduction Date: October 10, 2017 

      Public Hearing:   
Action:   

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska  Ordinance 17-45 
  Page 1 of 1 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

Ordinance #17-45 
 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE BETHEL CITY COUNCIL AMENDING 
FEES AND CHARGES RELATED TO PLANNING SERVICES FOR TALL TOWERS 

 
BE IT ORDAINED that the City Council of Bethel Alaska, 
 
Section 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is not permanent in nature and shall be 

not be placed within the Bethel Municipal Code. 
 
Section 2.  Amendment: The Fees and Charges schedule is hereby amended, new 

language is underlined and old language is stricken.  
 

TALL TOWERS FEES/CHARGES 

Advertising $275 

Re-Advertising Fee $325 

Revision Following Advertising $350 

Conditional Use Permit $750 

Public Hearing $1,000 

Change to Future Land Use Map $800 

Special Use Permit $750 

Variance $750 

   
SECTION 3.  Effective Date.  This ordinance shall become effective upon passage by 
the Bethel City Council. 
 
ENACTED THIS   DAY OF OCTOBER 2017, BY A VOTE OF   IN FAVOR AND  
  OPPOSED.  
 
ATTEST:      __________________________ 
         , Mayor 
 
 
________________________ 

Lori Strickler, City Clerk  
  

45



 

New Business   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

46



    Introduced by: City Manager, Williams 

Date: October 24, 2017 

Public Hearing:  

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance 17-47 

    1 of 2  

    

 
CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

Ordinance 17-47 
 

AN ORDINANCE SUPPORTING THE AMENDMENT TO THE OFFICIAL MAP 
AND LAND USE CODE 

 
Whereas, on October 12th, 2017 the City of Bethel applied for an Amendment to the Official Map 

and Land Use Code involving Lot 1A of Plat Number 2006-25 Block 1 and Lot 2 of Plat 
Number 99-12, the Courthouse Subdivision. Physical addresses are 204 Chief Eddie 
Hoffman Highway (the Nora Guinn Courthouse) and 350 Chief Eddie Hoffman highway 
(City Hall); 

 
Whereas, the proposed Zoning Amendment would further the goals and objectives of Bethel’s 

Comprehensive Plan;  
 

Whereas, the proposed Zoning Amendment would further the goals and objectives of Bethel’s 
Comprehensive Plan; 

 
Whereas, the area allotted for the Tom Dillon Park would remain the same;  

 
Whereas, the Planning Director/Land Use Administrator for the City of Bethel has determined 

that the proposed Zoning Amendment has not been found to be in conflict with the 
provisions found in Title 18 of the Bethel Municipal Code and recommends approval 
for the resignation; 

 
Whereas, that the Planning Commission has reviewed the application for an Amendment of the 

official map and land use code and voted 6 in favor and 0 opposed to recommend that 
the proposal be presented in ordinance form to the Bethel City Council to gain 
approval.  

 
Therefore be it Ordained by the City Council of Bethel, Alaska, that: 

 
SECTION 1.  Classification.  This ordinance is general and permanent nature and shall become 
part of the Official Map and Land Use Code. 

 
Section 2.  Amendment. The zoning district regulating the above-described land is to be 
redesignated from Public Lands and Institution (PLI) to General Use (GU). 
 
Section 3.  Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective upon immediately upon 
passage by the City Council. 

47



    Introduced by: City Manager, Williams 

Date: October 24, 2017 

Public Hearing:  

Action:  

Vote:  

 

City of Bethel, Alaska     Ordinance 17-47 

    2 of 2  

    

 
ENACTED THIS   ___ DAY OF OCTOBER 2017, BY A VOTE OF   __   IN FAVOR AND   __   

OPPOSED.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________  
Richard Robb, Mayor  

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Lori Strickler, City Clerk 
 

48



   

{00751378}{00751378}{00751378} 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

UTILITY REVENUE BOND, 2017 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-19 

 

 

 

A RESOLUTION of the City of Bethel, Alaska, authorizing the issuance of a utility 

revenue bond of the City in a principal amount not to exceed $913,000 to finance 

water and wastewater utility improvements; creating a lien on net revenues of the 

City’s water and wastewater utilities for the payment of the bond; providing for the 

date, terms and covenants of the bond; and authorizing the sale of the bond to Wells 

Fargo Bank, National Association, or a wholly owned subsidiary of Wells Fargo 

Bank, National Association, pursuant to the terms and conditions provided in this 

resolution. 

 

 

PASSED:  October ____, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

 

JERMAIN, DUNNAGAN & OWENS, P.C. 

Anchorage, Alaska 

 

49



   

{00751378}{00751378} -i-  {00751378} 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-19 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS* 

 

Page 

 

Section 1. Definitions..........................................................................................................1 

Section 2. Authorization of the Bond.. ...............................................................................4 

Section 3. Registration, Payment and Transfer.. .................................................................4 

Section 4. Redemption Provisions. .....................................................................................5 

Section 5. Municipal Utility Revenue Fund. ......................................................................5 

Section 6. Bond Fund. .........................................................................................................6 

Section 7. Application of Bond Proceeds. ..........................................................................7 

Section 8. Municipality Utility Covenants..........................................................................7 

Section 9. Future Parity Bonds. ..........................................................................................8 

Section 10. Junior Lien Bond................................................................................................9 

Section 11. Additional Debt.. ................................................................................................9 

Section 12. Defeasance. ........................................................................................................9 

Section 13. Lost or Destroyed Bond. ....................................................................................9 

Section 14. Form of the Bond. ............................................................................................10 

Section 15. Execution of the Bond. ....................................................................................16 

Section 16. Covenants and Agreements of the City. ..........................................................16 

Section 17. Sale of the Bond. ..............................................................................................17 

Section 18. Events of Default. ............................................................................................17 

(d) No Waiver; Remedies. .....................................................................................19 

Section 19. General Authorization; Prior Acts. ..................................................................19 

Section 20. Severability.. ....................................................................................................19 

Section 21. Effective Date. .................................................................................................19 

EXHIBIT A ............................................................................................................................1 

EXHIBIT B  FORM OF REQUISITION .................................................................................1 

 
 

                                                 
*  Neither this table of contents nor the preceding cover page is a part of this Resolution. 

50



   

 

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19           Page 1  {00751378} 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-19 

 

A RESOLUTION of the City of Bethel, Alaska, Alaska, authorizing the issuance 

of a utility revenue bond of the City in a principal amount not to exceed $913,000 

to finance water and wastewater utility improvements; creating a lien on net 

revenues of the City’s water and wastewater utilities for the payment of the bond; 

providing for the date, terms and covenants of the bond; and authorizing the sale of 

the bond to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or a wholly owned subsidiary 

of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, pursuant to the terms and conditions 

provided in this resolution. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel, Alaska (the “City”), a second class city organized under 

the Constitution and laws of the State, owns and operates a water and wastewater utility as a 

revenue producing enterprise (the “Municipal Utility”); and 

 

WHEREAS, monthly facility charges assessed for Municipal Utility services is segregated 

from all other funds of the City and may be used to finance water and wastewater capital 

improvements of the City subject to a majority vote of the City Council (the “Council”) [BMC 

13.60.080]; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Council wishes to authorize the issuance of a utility revenue bond (the 

“Bond”) in a principal amount not to exceed $913,000 to finance capital improvements to its 

Municipal Utility; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City under Section 29.47.420 of the Alaska Statutes, may issue revenue 

bonds for a public enterprise of the municipality where the only security is the revenue of the 

public enterprise; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 29.47.250 of the Alaska Statutes provides that the issuance and sale 

of revenue bonds may be issued without an election; and  

 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary and in the best interest of the City and its residents that the City 

provide for the issuance of the Bond to finance capital improvements to the Municipal Utility.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Bethel, Alaska, as 

follows: 

Section 1. Definitions.  As used in this resolution, the following words have the 

following meanings, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

“Advances” means all advances of the purchase price of the Bond made by the Purchaser 

pursuant to Section 7 hereof.  

 

 

51



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 2  {00751378} 

  

“Authorized Denomination(s)” means $250,000 or any greater amount in $5,000 multiples 

thereof, or if the principal amount is at any time less than $250,000, the principal amount of the 

outstanding Bond. 

 

 “Bond” means the City of Bethel, Alaska, Utility Revenue Bond, 2017, in a principal 

amount not to exceed $913,000. 

 

 “Bondholder” means the Person who owns the Bond. 

 

“Bond Fund” means the City of Bethel Utility Revenue Bond Fund created pursuant to 

Section 6 of this resolution to pay and secure the payment of the Bond. 

 

“Bond Register” means the registration books for the Bond maintained by the Registrar, 

for the purpose of complying with the requirements of Section 149 of the Code and listing, inter 

alia, the names and addresses of the Registered Owner of the Bond. 

 

 “City” means the City of Bethel, Alaska, a second class municipal corporation duly 

organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State of Alaska. 

 

 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

 

“Costs of Maintenance and Operation” means all necessary operating expenses, current 

maintenance expenses, expenses of reasonable upkeep and repairs, and insurance and reasonable 

administrative expense with respect to the Municipal Utility, but excludes depreciation, payments 

for debt service or into reserve accounts, costs of capital additions to or replacements of the 

Municipal Utility, municipal taxes, or payments to the City in lieu of taxes. 

 

 “Council” means the City Council of the City, the general legislative authority of the City, 

as duly constituted from time to time, or any successor body. 

 

“Debt Service” means for any particular year and for the Bond, an amount equal to the sum 

of (i) all interest payable during such year on such bonds outstanding plus (ii) the Principal 

Installment or Principal Installments during such year on such bonds outstanding, calculated on 

the assumption that bonds outstanding on the day of calculation cease to be outstanding by reason 

of, but only by reason of, payment upon maturity, or earlier mandatory redemption, or payments 

into the Bond Fund, required by the ordinance or resolution authorizing issuance of such bonds. 

 

“Debt Service Account” means the account of that name created within the Bond Fund 

pursuant to Section 6 of this resolution. 

 

“Default Rate” is then applicable interest rate on the Bond plus 3% per annum.  

 “Finance Director” means the Finance Director, or acting Finance Director, of the City or 

the successor to the duties of that office. 

 

52



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 3  {00751378} 

  

“Fiscal Year” means the Fiscal Year used by the City at any time.  At the time of the 

passage of this resolution, the Fiscal Year is the twelve-month period beginning on July 1 and 

ending on June 30 of each year. 

 

“Future Parity Bonds” means any revenue bonds of the City, other than the Bond, the 

principal of and interest on which are payable out of money in the Utility Revenue Fund on a parity 

with the payments required to be made from that Fund for the principal of and interest on the Bond. 

 

 “Government Obligations” means any bonds or other obligations that, as to principal and 

interest, constitute direct obligations of, or are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of 

America. 

 

“Municipal Utility” means the existing water and wastewater system of the City, as the 

same may be added to, improved and extended for as long as the Bond is outstanding. 

 

“Municipal Utility Revenue Fund” means the fund of the City created by Section 5 of this 

resolution, into which fund all Revenues of the Municipal Utility must be paid. 

  

“Net Revenues” means all Revenues less the Costs of Maintenance and Operations. 

 

“Parity Bonds” means the Bond and any Future Parity Bonds. 

 

 “Person” means an individual, corporation, firm, association, partnership, limited liability 

company, trust, or other legal entity or group of entities, including a governmental entity or any 

agency or political subdivision thereof. 

 

“Principal Installment” means, as of any date of calculation and with respect to any series 

of Parity Bonds, the principal amount of such bonds due on a certain future date. 

 

“Project” means the design, construction and equipping of certain delivery systems of the 

City’s Municipal Utility and related costs. 

 

 “Project Fund” means the “Project Fund, 2017” created pursuant to Section 7 of this 

resolution. 

 

 “Purchaser” means, initially, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. 

 

 “Registrar” means the Finance Director, for the purposes of registering and authenticating 

the Bond, maintaining the Bond Register, and paying principal of and interest on the Bond. 

 

 “Registered Owner” means the person in whose name the Bond is registered on the Bond 

Register, initially Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, or wholly owned subsidiary of Wells 

Fargo Bank, National Association.   

 

53



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 4  {00751378} 

  

“Revenues” means all gross earnings, revenue and money received from or on account of 

the operation of the Municipal Utility, including income from the investment of any funds of the 

Municipal Utility (but excluding income from investments irrevocably pledged to the payment of 

revenue bonds pursuant to a plan of defeasance or refunding). 

 

 Words of the masculine gender shall be deemed and construed to include correlative words 

of the feminine and neuter genders.  Words imparting the singular number shall include the plural 

numbers and vice versa unless the context shall otherwise indicate.  Reference to sections and 

other subdivisions of this resolution are to the sections and other subdivisions of this resolution as 

originally adopted unless expressly stated to the contrary.  The headings or titles of the sections 

hereof, and the table of contents appended hereto, are for convenience of reference only and shall 

not define or limit the provisions hereof. 

Section 2. Authorization of the Bond.  The City shall now issue and sell the Bond in 

an amount not to exceed $913,000 principal amount, to finance costs of the Project, including costs 

of issuance of the Bond.  The Bond shall be issued and sold to the Purchaser as a single bond, 

designated as the “City of Bethel, Alaska, Utility Revenue Bond, 2017.”  The Bond shall be issued 

as a “drawdown bond” to be funded over time as necessary to pay costs of the Project.  The Bond 

will be dated as of the date of delivery of the Bond to the Purchaser, will mature on a date no later 

than twelve months from the date of delivery of the Bond, will be fully registered as to both 

principal and interest, will be identified in such manner as the Registrar shall determine, will bear 

interest at the rate or rates and be payable on the dates as established in accordance with 

Sections 14 and 18 hereof.  The principal amount due under the terms of the Bond shall be paid 

on maturity. Interest on the Bond will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 

twelve 30-day months.  In the event the Borrower shall fail to make any of required payments, the 

item or installment so in default shall continue as an obligation of the City shall bear interest at the 

Default Rate until the amount in default shall have been fully paid.  

 

 Principal of, and interest on, the Bond, and all other amounts which may be payable in 

connection with the Bond, are payable solely from the Revenues of the Municipal Utility and 

neither the full faith and credit or taxing power of the City are pledged for their payment.   

Section 3. Registration, Payment and Transfer.  The Finance Director shall act as 

authenticating agent, transfer agent, paying agent and registrar for the Bond (collectively, the 

“Registrar”).  Both principal of and interest on the Bond shall be payable in lawful money of the 

United States of America.  Interest on the Bond shall be paid by check or draft of the Registrar 

mailed (on the date such interest is due) to the Registered Owner or nominee at the addresses 

appearing on the Bond Register on the fifteenth day of the month preceding each interest payment 

date.  Principal of the Bond shall be payable upon presentation and surrender of the Bond to the 

Registrar by the Registered Owner or nominee at the office of the Registrar in Bethel, Alaska.   

 

 The Bond may be transferred only on the Bond Register maintained by the Registrar for 

that purpose upon the surrender thereof by the Registered Owner or nominee or its duly authorized 

agent and only if endorsed in the manner provided thereon, and thereupon a new fully registered 

Bond of Authorized Denomination, of equal principal amount, maturity and interest rate shall be 

issued to the transferee in exchange therefor.  Upon surrender thereof to the Registrar, the Bond is 

54



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 5  {00751378} 

  

interchangeable for a bond or bonds of Authorized Denominations, of an equal aggregate principal 

amount and of the same interest rates and principal payment amounts as the Bond.  Such transfer 

or exchange shall be without cost to the Registered Owner or transferee. 

 

 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bond may only be transferred in Authorized 

Denominations and must be in compliance with the securities laws of the United States of America 

and only to (i) an affiliate of the Purchaser, (ii) a trust or other custodial arrangement established 

by the Purchaser, the owners of the beneficial interests in which are limited to “qualified 

institutional buyers” as defined in Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as 

amended, or (iii) a person that is a qualified institutional buyer and a commercial bank having 

capital and surplus, determined as of the date of any transfer, of $5,000,000,000 or more that has 

executed and delivered to the Purchaser and City investor letters in the form of Exhibit A 

hereto.   The persons and entities identified in clauses (i) and (ii) of the foregoing sentence shall 

be referred to as the “Eligible Transferee(s).”  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the principal 

amount of the outstanding Bond is less than $250,000.00, the Bond may not be transferred to any 

Eligible Transferee without the prior written consent of City.  

 

 The City may deem the person in whose name the Bond is registered to be the absolute 

owner thereof for the purpose of receiving payment of the principal of and interest on the Bond 

and for any and all other purposes whatsoever. 

Section 4. Redemption Provisions. 

 

(a) Optional Redemption.  The Bond shall be subject to optional redemption by the 

City, in whole or in part, at any time, without penalty. If the Bond is redeemed in part, the portion 

of the Bond to be redeemed shall be in an Authorized Denomination or any multiple thereof.   

 

(b) Notice of Redemption.  Notice of redemption shall be given by the City not less 

than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date fixed for redemption by first class 

mail, postage prepaid, to the Registered Owner of the Bond at the address appearing on the Bond 

Register.  The requirements of this section shall be deemed complied with when notice is mailed 

as herein provided, regardless of whether it is actually received by the owner of the Bond.  Each 

official notice of redemption shall be dated and shall state: (i) the redemption date, (ii) the 

redemption price payable upon such optional redemption; (iii) if less than all of the principal 

amount outstanding is to be redeemed, the principal amount to be redeemed; (iv) that the interest 

on the Bond, or on the principal amount thereof to be redeemed, designated for redemption in such 

notice, shall cease to accrue from and after such redemption date; and (v) that on such date there 

will become due and payable on the Bond the principal amount thereof to be redeemed and the 

interest accrued on such principal amount to the redemption date.  In the event of a partial 

redemption of the Bond, the Bondholder shall reflect the principal amount of the Bond being 

redeemed in the Table of Partial Redemptions attached to the Bond without further action. 

Section 5. Municipal Utility Revenue Fund.  There is hereby created and established a 

special fund of the City known as the “Municipal Utility Revenue Fund,” which fund is hereby 

authorized to be continued so long as the Bond remains outstanding, into which fund is deposited 

as collected all Revenues of the Municipal Utility, except the interest earned and income derived 

55



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 6  {00751378} 

  

from investments of money in bond redemption fund and the accounts therein.  The Municipal 

Utility Revenue Fund shall be held separate and apart from all other funds and accounts of the 

City, and the Revenues deposited in the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund shall be used only for the 

following purposes and in the following order of priority; provided, however, that any payments 

in lieu of taxes shall be subordinate to the payments required to be made into the Bond Fund out 

of the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund: 

 

First, to pay the Costs of Maintenance and Operation; 

 

Second, to make all payments required to be made into the Debt Service Account to pay 

interest on any Parity Bonds; 

 

Third, to make all payments required to be made into the Debt Service Account to pay the 

principal of any Parity Bonds; 

 

Fourth, to make all payments required to be made into a reserve account, if established; 

 

Fifth, to make all payments required to be made into any revenue bond redemption fund, 

revenue warrant redemption fund, debt service account, reserve account or sinking fund account 

created to pay and secure the payment of the principal of and interest on any revenue bonds, or 

revenue warrants or other revenue obligations of the City having a lien upon the Revenue junior 

and inferior to the lien thereon for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Parity Bonds; 

and 

 

Sixth, to retire by redemption or purchase in the open market any outstanding revenue 

bonds or revenue warrants of the City, to make necessary additions, betterments, improvements 

and repairs to or extensions and replacements of the Municipal Utility, or for any other lawful City 

purposes. 

Section 6. Bond Fund.   

(a) Bond Fund and Accounts Therein.  A special fund of the City known as the “City 

of Bethel Municipal Utility Revenue Bond Fund” (the “Bond Fund”), is hereby authorized to be 

created in the office of the Finance Director and is hereby authorized to be continued so long as 

the Bond or Future Parity Bonds remain outstanding.  The Bond Fund shall be drawn upon for the 

sole purpose of paying the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on Parity Bonds as the same 

shall become due and payable.  The Debt Service Account has been established within the Bond 

Fund.   

(b) Payments into Debt Service Account.  The City hereby obligates and binds itself to 

set aside and pay into the Debt Service Account Net Revenues, on or before the date due, the 

amounts necessary to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bond as the same 

become due and payable.   

Whenever and so long as the assets of the Debt Service Account are sufficient to provide 

money to pay when due the principal of, and interest on the Bond in full, no payments need be 

56



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 7  {00751378} 

  

made into the Debt Service Account pursuant to this resolution during any period in which such 

excess continues. 

Money in the Debt Service Account shall be held for the benefit of the owners of all Parity 

Bonds then outstanding and payable equally and ratably and without preference or distinction as 

between different series, installments or maturities. 

(c) Lien of Bond.  The amounts pledged by this resolution to be paid out of the 

Municipal Utility Revenue Fund into the Bond Fund and the Debt Service Account are hereby 

declared to be a prior lien and charge upon all the money in the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund 

superior to all other charges of any kind or nature, except the charges required to pay the Costs of 

Maintenance and Operation. 

(d) Due Regard.  The City, in fixing the amounts to be paid into the Bond Fund, has 

exercised due regard to the Costs of Maintenance and Operation of the Municipal Utility and the 

amounts necessary to pay the principal of and interest on the Bonds. 

Section 7. Application of Bond Proceeds.  The City acknowledges and agrees that 

proceeds of the Bond will be disbursed in installments through the making of Advances by the 

Purchaser in accordance with the terms hereof.  The date and amount of each Advance shall be 

noted on the Table of Advances attached to the Bond; provided, that the failure to record any such 

Advance on the Table of Advances shall not affect the Principal Amount due.  In no event may 

the total amount of all Advances exceed $913,000.  Notwithstanding anything else herein 

contained, interest payable on the Bond shall be determined based on the outstanding principal 

amount of the Bond.   Each Advance shall be made only upon the receipt by the Purchaser of a 

requisition and certificate, substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto (each, a “Requisition”) 

signed by the Finance Director or his designee and approved by the Purchaser and otherwise 

meeting the requirements and conditions of this resolution. The City acknowledges and agrees that 

the Purchaser shall not be obligated to make Advances except in accordance with the terms of this 

resolution. 

 

A special fund of the City known as the “Utility Revenue Fund 2017” (the “Project Fund”) 

is hereby authorized to be created in the office of the Finance Director.  Proceeds of the Bond shall 

be deposited into the Project Fund and used to pay costs of the Project. Any amounts remaining in 

the Project Fund after all costs of the Project have been paid or reimbursed shall be deposited into 

the Bond Fund. 

 

Section 8. Municipality Utility Covenants.  The City hereby covenants with the Person 

who owns the Bond as follows:   

 

(a) Maintain in Good Order.  That it will at all times maintain and keep the 

Municipal Utility and all additions and improvements thereto and extensions thereof in good 

repair, working order and condition, and will from time to time make or cause to be made all 

necessary and proper repairs, renewals and replacements thereto so that the business carried on 

in connection therewith may be properly conducted. In addition, that it will at all times operate 

the Municipal Utility and the business in connection therewith in an efficient manner and at a 

reasonable cost. 

57



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 8  {00751378} 

  

 

(b) Sale or Disposition.  That, so long as the Bond remains outstanding, it will not sell 

or otherwise dispose of all of the properties of the Municipal Utility unless provision is made for 

payment into the Bond Fund of a sum sufficient to pay the principal and interest of the outstanding 

Bond in accordance with the terms thereof. 

(c) Insurance.  That the City will at all times carry fire and extended coverage, 

commercial general liability and property damage and such other forms of insurance with 

responsible insurers and with policies payable to the City on such of the buildings, equipment, 

works, plants, facilities and properties of the Municipal Utility as are ordinarily carried by 

municipal or privately owned utilities engaged in the operation of like systems, and against such 

claims for damages as are ordinarily carried by municipal or privately owned utilities engaged in 

the operation of like systems, or it will self-insure or will participate in an insurance pool or pools 

with reserves adequate, in the reasonable judgment of the City, to protect the Municipal Utility 

and the owners of the Parity Bonds against loss. 

(d) No Free Service.  That it will not furnish Municipal Utility service to any customer 

whatsoever free of charge. 

 

(e) Use of funds held in the Utility Revenue Fund.  That the City will not expend 

amounts held in the Utility Revenue Fund for an extensions or betterments which are not 

economically sound and which will not contribute to the operation of the Municipal Utility in an 

efficient and economical manner unless such extensions or betterments are required by law or 

regulatory body having valid jurisdiction.  

 

(f) Books and Accounts.  That the City will keep and maintain proper books and 

accounts with respect to the operation of the Municipal Utility and that it will cause its books and 

accounts to be audited annually by a certified public accounts. 

 

(g) Litigation. The City shall give notice to the Bondholder of any default under 

the terms of this resolution and material litigation or governmental proceedings relating to the 

Municipal Utility within thirty (30) days following notification of the City. 

Section 9. Future Parity Bonds.  The City hereby covenants and agrees with the owner 

of the Bond for as long as it remains outstanding that the City will not create any special fund or 

funds for the payment of any other utility revenue bonds that will rank on a parity with or have 

any priority over the payments out of the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund into the Bond Fund; 

except that it hereby reserves the right, for the purpose of refunding any outstanding bonds that 

have a lien upon the Revenues of the Municipal Utility and/or the money in the Municipal Utility 

Revenue Fund, or for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and installing additions and 

improvements to and extensions of and making necessary replacements or other capital 

improvements to the Municipal Utility or any of them, to issue Future Parity Bonds and to pay into 

the Bond Fund amounts from the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund sufficient to pay the principal 

of, premium, if any, and interest on such bonds, and to maintain an adequate reserve therefor, 

which payments may rank equally with the payments out of the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund 

into the Bond Fund, upon compliance with the following conditions: 

58



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 9  {00751378} 

  

 

(1) That at the time of the issuance of such Future Parity Bonds there is no 

deficiency in the Bond Fund or any accounts therein. 

(2) The City may issue Future Parity Bonds if, at or prior to the delivery of such 

Future Parity Bonds, the Finance Director shall have certified that the Net Revenues for a 

period of any 12 consecutive months out of the 24 months immediately preceding the date 

of delivery of such proposed Future Parity Bonds equals at least 1.1 times maximum annual 

Debt Service on all Parity Bonds then outstanding, including the Future Parity Bonds 

proposed to be issued. 

(3) Notwithstanding the foregoing requirements, if Future Parity Bonds are to 

be issued for the purpose of refunding at or prior to their maturity any part or all of the then 

outstanding Parity Bonds and the issuance of such refunding bonds results in a debt service 

savings, the certificate or certificates required by subsection (2) of this section need not be 

obtained. 

Section 10. Junior Lien Bond.  Other than as set forth in Section 11 below, nothing 

contained in this resolution shall prevent the City from issuing utility revenue bonds or warrants 

that are a charge upon the Revenues of the Municipal Utility or the money in the Municipal Utility 

Revenue Fund junior, subordinate or inferior to the payments to be made into the Bond Fund, or 

from issuing such bonds or warrants to refund maturing bonds or warrants for the payment of 

which money is not otherwise available. 

Section 11. Additional Debt.  Notwithstanding anything contrary set forth in this 

resolution, for so long as the Bond is outstanding, the City shall not incur any additional debt or 

debt or obligation (other than in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice) 

or issue bonds or warrants that are secured by a pledge of or a charge upon Net Revenues, the 

Municipal Utility or the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund without the prior written consent of the 

Bondholder.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, refunding bonds may be issued without the prior 

written consent of the Bondholder so long as proceeds of such refunding bond are applied to 

redeem the Bond is full. 

Section 12. Defeasance.  If money and/or Government Obligations, maturing at such 

time or times and bearing interest to be earned thereon in amounts sufficient to redeem and retire 

the Bond or a portion thereof (in Authorized Denominations) in accordance with its terms, are set 

aside in a special account to effect such prepayment and retirement, and such money and the 

principal of and interest on such obligations are irrevocably set aside and pledged for such purpose, 

then no further payments need be made into the Bond Fund for the payment of the principal of and 

interest on the Bond or portion thereof so provided for, and the Bond or portion thereof shall cease 

to be entitled to any lien, benefit or security of this resolution except the right to receive the money 

so set aside and pledged, and the Bond or portion thereof shall be deemed not to be outstanding 

hereunder. 

Section 13. Lost or Destroyed Bond.  If the Bond is lost, stolen or destroyed, the 

Registrar may authenticate and deliver a new Bond of like amount, date, and tenor to the Registered 

Owner upon such owner’s paying the expenses and charges of the City in connection with 

59



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 10  {00751378} 

  

preparation and authentication of the replacement Bond and upon his or her filing with the 

Registrar evidence satisfactory to the Registrar that the Bond was actually lost, stolen or destroyed 

and of his or her ownership, and upon furnishing the City with indemnity satisfactory to the 

Registrar.   

Section 14. Form of the Bond.  The Bond shall be in substantially the following form: 

 NO. R-1  Not to Exceed 

      $913,000 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF ALASKA 

 

CITY OF BETHEL 

UTILITY REVENUE BOND, 2017 

(Drawdown Bond) 

 

INTEREST RATE:  FINAL MATURITY DATE: 

 SEE BELOW   

REGISTERED OWNER: WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: Not to Exceed $913,000 and No/100 Dollars 

 

 The City of Bethel, Alaska (the “City”), a municipal corporation organized and existing 

under and by the laws and Constitution of the State of Alaska, hereby acknowledges itself to owe 

and for value received promises to pay (but only out of the Revenues, as defined in the Bond 

Resolution hereinafter mentioned) to the Registered Owner identified above, or registered assigns, 

the principal amount specified above (subject to terms and conditions herein described), together 

with accrued interest thereon. Principal amounts outstanding under the terms this Bond shall bear 

interest at a fixed rate of interest equal to _____ percent per annum (the “Applicable Rate”).  

Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day 

months. Interest on this bond shall be payable quarterly following initial disbursement of Bond 

proceeds to the City. Interest shall only accrue on the outstanding principal amount of the Bond 

during each fiscal quarter of the City (“Fiscal Quarter), determined as the sum of all Advances as 

reflected on the Table of Advances attached to this Bond, less any redemptions of Bond as reflected 

on the Table of Partial Redemptions attached to this Bond. Interest shall be payable quarterly on 

the 5th business day following the end of each Fiscal Quarter, until ________________ __, 2018, 

when the outstanding principal balance of this Bond, plus accrued but unpaid interest, shall be due 

and payable. 

This bond is a drawdown bond; draws are permitted up to the face amount of this bond 

beginning on the date hereof through __________ __, 2018, for payment of Municipal Utility 

capital improvements.   

 Principal of, interest, and premium, if any, on this bond are payable solely out of the special 

fund of the City known as the “City of Municipal Utility Sewer Revenue Bond Fund” (the “Bond 

Fund”) created and established by Resolution No. 17-19 of the City.  Both principal of and interest 

on this bond are payable in lawful money of the United States of America by check or draft of the 

60



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 11  {00751378} 

  

Finance Director of the City as registrar and paying agent for this bond (the “Registrar”).  Upon 

final payment of all principal of and interest on this bond, this bond shall be submitted to the 

Registrar for cancellation and surrender.   

 

THIS BOND IS A SPECIAL AND LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE CITY PAYABLE 

SOLELY FROM AND SECURED BY A LIEN ON REVENUES DERIVED FROM THE 

CITY’S MUNICIPAL UTILITY. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING 

POWER OF THE CITY IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, 

PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON THIS BOND.  

 

This bond is issued pursuant to Resolution No. 17-19, passed by the City Council on 

__________, 2017 (the “Bond Resolution”), to finance capital costs of the City’s Municipal Utility 

delivery system and related costs.  Capitalized terms used in this bond and not otherwise defined 

herein shall have the meanings assigned those terms in the Bond Resolution.   

 

The City does hereby pledge and bind itself to set aside from the Municipal Utility Revenue 

Fund of the City, and to pay into the Bond Fund and the Accounts therein, the various amounts 

required by the Bond Resolution to be paid into and maintained in said Fund and Accounts, all 

within the times provided by the Bond Resolution.  The City has further pledged and bound itself 

to pay into the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund as collected, all Revenues of the Municipal Utility. 

 

The amounts so pledged to be paid out of the Municipal Utility Revenue Fund into the 

Bond Fund and Accounts are hereby declared to be a prior lien and charge upon the money in the 

Municipal Utility Revenue Fund superior to all other charges of any kind or nature except the 

Costs of Maintenance and Operation of the Municipal Utility and equal in rank to the charges on 

the money in the Bond Fund to pay and secure the payment of the Bond. 

 

This bond is subject to optional as set forth in the Bond Resolution.  

 

The obligations of the City under the Bond Resolution may be discharged upon the 

defeasance of this bond on the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution. 

 

 This bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be entitled to any 

security or benefit under the Bond Resolution until the Certificate of Authentication hereon shall 

have been manually signed by the Registrar. 

 

 THIS BOND MAY ONLY BE TRANSFERRED IN AUTHORIZED 

DENOMINATIONS TO (I) AN AFFILIATE OF PURCHASER, (II) A TRUST 

OR OTHER CUSTODIAL ARRANGEMENT ESTABLISHED BY 

PURCHASER OR ONE OF ITS AFFILIATES, THE OWNERS OF THE 

BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN WHICH ARE LIMITED TO “QUALIFIED 

INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS” AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A PROMULGATED 

UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR (III) A PERSON 

THAT IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER AND A COMMERCIAL 

BANK HAVING CAPITAL AND SURPLUS, DETERMINED AS OF THE 

DATE OF ANY TRANSFER, OF $5,000,000,000 OR MORE THAT HAS 

61



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 12  {00751378} 

  

EXECUTED AND DELIVERED TO PURCHASER AND CITY INVESTOR 

LETTERS IN THE FORM OF EXHIBIT A TO THE BOND 

RESOLUTION.  THE PERSONS AND ENTITIES IDENTIFIED IN CLAUSES 

(I) AND (II) OF THE FOREGOING SENTENCE SHALL BE REFERRED TO 

AS THE “ELIGIBLE TRANSFEREE(S).”  NOTWITHSTANDING THE 

FOREGOING, IF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE OUTSTANDING 

BOND IS LESS THAN $250,000, THE BOND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED 

TO ANY ELIGIBLE TRANSFEREE WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN 

CONSENT OF THE CITY. 

It is hereby certified and declared that this bond is issued pursuant to and in strict 

compliance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Alaska and ordinances and resolutions 

of the City, that all acts, conditions and things required to be done precedent to and in the issuance 

of this bond have happened, been done and performed, and that this bond does not exceed any 

Constitutional or statutory limitations. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Bethel, Alaska, has caused this bond to be signed 

on behalf of the City with the manual or facsimile signature of the City Manager, to be attested by 

the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk, and the seal of the City to be imprinted or impressed 

hereon, as of this ___ day of ___________, 2017. 

 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

 

By    /s/    

City Manager 

[SEAL] 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 /s/  

Clerk 

 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

 

 Date of Authentication:  ___________________ 

 

 This is the City of Bethel, Alaska, Utility Revenue Bond, 2017 dated _____________, 

2017, as described in the Bond Resolution. 

 

 

       

Finance Director, City of Bethel, Alaska, as 

Registrar 

  

62



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 13  {00751378} 

  

ASSIGNMENT 

 

 FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto  

             

              

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER OF 

TRANSFEREE 

 

 

 

 

              

(Please print or typewrite name and address, including zip code of Transferee) 

              

the within bond and all rights thereunder and does hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint  

       of       , or its 

successor, as agent to transfer said bond on the books kept by the Registrar for registration thereof, 

with full power of substitution in the premises. 

 

 DATED:  ________________, ______. 

 

SIGNATURE GUARANTEED: 

 

      

 

       

NOTE:  The signature of this Assignment 

must correspond with the name of the 

Registered Owner as it appears upon the face 

of the within bond in every particular, 

without alteration or enlargement or any 

change whatever. 

  

63



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 14  {00751378} 

  

TABLE OF ADVANCES 

Upon receipt of any Advance described in the Bond Resolution, the owner of this bond shall make 

the appropriate notation on the table below: 

 

Date 

Installment 

Amount Paid 

Total 

Principal Payments 

Signature of 

Owner 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

64



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 15  {00751378} 

  

TABLE OF PARTIAL REDEMPTIONS 

Upon all partial redemptions (whether optional, mandatory or otherwise) the owner shall make the 

appropriate notation itself on the table below.  The owner’s records relating to the outstanding 

principal amount of this bond shall in all cases prevail: 

Date Amount 

Redeemed 

Remaining Unpaid 

Principal Amount 

Signature of 

Owner 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

 

 

[END OF FORM OF BOND] 

 

65



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 16  {00751378} 

  

Section 15. Execution of the Bond.  The Bond shall be signed on behalf of the City by 

the manual or facsimile signature of the City Manager, shall be attested by the manual or facsimile 

signature of the City Clerk, and the seal of the City shall be impressed or imprinted thereon. The 

Bond shall be delivered in physical form to the Bondholder. 

 

 Only a Bond that bears a Certificate of Authentication in the form set forth in Section 12 

hereof, manually executed by the Registrar, shall be valid or obligatory for any purpose or entitled 

to the benefits of this resolution.  The executed Certificate of Authentication shall be conclusive 

evidence that the Bond so authenticated has been duly executed, authenticated, registered, and 

delivered hereunder and is entitled to the benefits of this resolution. 

 

 In case any of the officers of the City who have signed, attested, authenticated, registered 

or sealed the Bond cease to be such officers before the Bond so signed, attested, authenticated, 

registered or sealed has been actually issued and delivered, that Bond shall be valid nevertheless 

and may be issued by the City with the same effect as though the persons who had signed, attested, 

authenticated, registered or sealed that Bond had not ceased to be such officers.  The Bond may 

also be signed, attested, authenticated, registered or sealed on behalf of the City by such persons 

as at the actual date of execution of the Bond shall be the proper officers of the City although at 

the original date of the Bond any such person was not such officer. 

Section 16. Covenants and Agreements of the City.   

(a) In addition to any other covenants and agreements of the City contained in this 

resolution, the City further covenants and agrees that no placement agent shall be involved in the 

sale of the Bond and that the Bond shall not be (i) assigned a rating by any credit rating agency, 

(ii) registered with The Depository Trust Company or any other securities depository, (iii) offered 

for sell pursuant to any type of offering document or official statement, or (iv) assigned a CUSIP 

number by Standard & Poor’s CUSIP Service. 

 

(b) The City shall furnish the Purchaser with a copy of each of the following: (i) as 

soon as available, and in any event within 210 days after the close of each Fiscal Year of the City, 

the audited financial statements of the City which shall be certified to the City by a certified public 

accountant as (A) having been prepared in accordance with GAAP (applied on a basis consistent 

with that of the preceding Fiscal Year) and (B) fairly presenting the financial condition of the City 

as of the end of such Fiscal Year and reflecting its operations during such Fiscal Year and (C) 

showing all material liabilities, direct or contingent, and disclosing the existence of any off-balance 

sheet liability, and shall include, without limitation, balance sheets, profit and loss statements and 

statements of cash flows, together with notes and supporting schedules, all on a consolidated and 

consolidating basis and in reasonable detail and including a copy of any management letter or audit 

report provided to the City by such certified public accountant; (ii) as soon as available and in any 

event within 45 days of the beginning of each Fiscal Year, the annual operating budget of the City 

for such upcoming Fiscal Year.  The operating budget shall include all amounts expected to be 

payable to the Bondholder in connection with the Bond in such Fiscal Year.  Additionally, 

promptly after the adoption thereof, any amendments to the annual operating budget which may 

have an impact on any amount expected to be payable to the Bondholder; and (iii) as soon as 

available, a copy of each interim wastewater utility project inspection report, minutes of each 

66



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 17  {00751378} 

  

project meeting, if any, and USDA disbursement approvals during the course of construction of 

the City’s wastewater utility project. 

 

(c) The City agrees that it shall use proceeds of the United States Department of 

Agriculture long term funding of Utility improvements to refund the Bond. 

 

(d) The City agrees that, for the term of the Bond, the Bondholder shall receive the 

benefit of all existing and subsequent covenants, defaults and remedies made by the City with 

respect to Parity Bonds. 

Section 17. Sale of the Bond.  The City Manager and Finance Director are each 

authorized to complete the sale of the Bond to the Purchaser on terms and conditions consistent 

with this resolution.    

 

The City Manager and Finance Director are each hereby authorized to approve the final 

maturity date and interest rate on the Bond; provided, however, the true interest rate on the Bond 

shall not exceed 5.00 percent. 

 

Section 18. Events of Default. 

(a) The term “Event of Default” shall mean any one or more of the following events: 

 

i. Failure by the City to make any payment required to be paid hereunder; 

ii. Any representation or warranty made by or on behalf of the City contained 

in this resolution or in any instrument furnished in compliance with this 

resolution proves false or misleading in any material respect as of the date 

of the making or furnishing thereof; 

iii. Failure by the City shall to observe or perform any of its other covenants, 

conditions, payments or agreements under this resolution or the Bond for a 

period of thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice, specifying such 

failure and requesting that it be remedied, is given to the City by the 

Bondholder;  

iv. The City shall (A) apply for or consent to the appointment of, or the taking 

of possession by, a receiver, custodian, assignee, sequestrator, trustee, 

liquidator or similar official of the Borrower of all or a substantial part of 

its property, (B) admit in writing its inability, or be generally unable, to pay 

its debts as such debts become due, (C) make a general assignment for the 

benefit of its creditors, (D) commence a voluntary case under the 

Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect), (E) file a petition seeking 

to take advantage of any other federal or state law relating to bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, winding-up or composition or 

adjustment of debts, (F) fail to controvert in a timely or appropriate manner, 

or acquiesce in writing to, any petition filed against the Borrower in an 

67



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 18  {00751378} 

  

involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code, or (G) take any corporate 

action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; or 

v. A proceeding or case shall be commenced, without the application or 

consent of the City, in any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking (A) the 

liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, dissolution, winding-up, 

composition or adjustment of the City’s utility debts, (B) the appointment 

of a trustee, receiver, custodian, assignee, sequestrator, liquidator or similar 

official of the Borrower or of all or any substantial part of its assets, or 

(C) similar relief in respect of the Borrower under any law relating to 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, winding-up, 

composition or adjustment of debts or an order for relief against the City 

shall be entered in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code.  

(b) Rights and Remedies. 

i. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Bondholder (A) may by 

notice to the City, declare the obligations of the City under the Bond and 

hereunder to be immediately due and payable, and the same shall thereupon 

become immediately due and payable without demand, presentment, protest 

or further notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by 

the City; (B) may cure any default, event of default or event of 

nonperformance under this resolution or the Bond (in which event the City 

shall reimburse the Bondholder therefor); (C) may exercise its banker’s lien 

or right of set off, and/or (D) may proceed to protect its rights by suit in 

equity, action at law or other appropriate proceedings, whether for specific 

performance of any covenant or agreement of the City herein contained or 

in and of the exercise of any power or remedy granted to the Bondholder 

hereunder. The rights and remedies of the Bondholder specified herein are 

for the sole and exclusive benefit, use and protection of the Bondholder, and 

the Bondholder is entitled, but shall have no duty or obligation to the City 

or otherwise, (I) to exercise or to refrain from exercising any right or 

remedy reserved to the Bondholder, or (II) to cause any other party to 

exercise or to refrain from exercising any right or remedy available to it 

under this resolution.   

ii. From and after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all amounts owing to 

the Bondholder hereunder, under the Bond shall accrue interest daily at the 

Default Rate.  Interest accruing at the Default Rate shall be due and payable 

on demand. 

iii. If the Purchaser shall have elected in its sole discretion the remedy set forth 

in Subsection (a)(i), the Issuer and the Borrower shall immediately pay all 

amounts outstanding hereunder and under the Bond. 

(c) Application of Moneys.   

68



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 19  {00751378} 

  

All of the moneys realized through the exercise of the remedies provided in 

Subsection (b)(i) shall be used to pay principal of and interest on the Bond then due or overdue 

and costs incurred in the collection thereof (including reasonable attorneys’ fees).  If the available 

moneys are not sufficient on any payment date to pay principal of and interest on the Bond then 

due or overdue and costs incurred in the collection thereof (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), 

they shall be applied first to the payment of costs incurred in the collection thereof (including 

reasonable attorneys’ fees), second to interest then due on the Bond, in the order of maturity of the 

installments of such interest, and third to the payment of the unpaid principal of the Bond which 

shall have become due, by reason of maturity, redemption, acceleration or otherwise. 

(d) No Waiver; Remedies.   

No failure on the part of the Bondholder to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, 

power or privilege under this resolution shall operate as a waiver of such right, power or privilege; 

nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege under this resolution 

preclude any other further exercise of such right, power or privilege or the exercise of any other 

right, power or privilege.  The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and not 

exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law or which the Bondholder would otherwise 

have. 

Section 19. General Authorization; Prior Acts.  The Mayor, City Manager, Finance 

Director, City Attorney, City Clerk, and other appropriate officers of the City are each hereby 

authorized and directed to take such steps, to do such other acts and things, and to execute such 

letters, certificates, agreements, papers, financing statements, assignments or instruments as in 

their judgment may be necessary, appropriate or desirable to carry out the terms and provisions of, 

and complete the transactions contemplated by, this resolution.  All acts taken pursuant to the 

authority of this resolution but prior to its effective date are hereby ratified and confirmed. 

Section 20. Severability.  If any one or more of the covenants or agreements provided 

in this resolution to be performed on the part of the City shall be declared by any court of competent 

jurisdiction to be contrary to law, then such covenant or covenants, agreement or agreements, shall 

be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining covenants and agreements of 

this resolution and shall in no way affect the validity of the other provisions of this resolution or 

of the Bond. 

Section 21. Effective Date.  This resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately 

upon passage by the Council and publication. 

 

69



   

{00751378}{00751378}City of Bethel, Alaska 

Utility Revenue Bond, Resolution No. 17-19          Page 20  {00751378} 

  

PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the City of Bethel, Alaska, at a regular 

meeting of the Council held on October ____, 2017. 

CITY OF BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

 

By   

Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

  

Clerk

70



   

{00751378}{00751378}Exhibit A  Page 1  {00751378}   

Form of Investor Letter 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

FORM OF INVESTOR LETTER 

 

The undersigned, an authorized representative of the Purchaser, hereby represents to the 

City of Bethel, Alaska (“Issuer”): 

1. The Purchaser has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business 

matters, including purchase and ownership of municipal obligations, to be able to evaluate the 

risks and merits of the investment represented by the purchase of the Issuer’s Utility Revenue 

Bond, 2017 (“Bond”). 

2. The Purchaser has authority to purchase the Bond and to execute this letter and any 

other instruments and documents required to be executed by the Purchaser in connection with the 

purchase of the Bond. 

3. The undersigned is a duly appointed, qualified and acting representative of the 

Purchaser and is authorized to cause the Purchaser to make the certifications, representations and 

warranties contained herein by execution of this letter on behalf of the Purchaser. 

4. The Purchaser is (a) an affiliate of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, (b) a 

trust or other custodial arrangement established by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association or one 

of its affiliates, the owners of the beneficial interests in which are limited to “qualified institutional 

buyers” as defined in Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the 

“1933 Act”), or (c) a qualified institutional buyer that is a commercial bank with capital and surplus 

of $5,000,000,000 or more.  The persons and entities identified in (a) and (b) of the foregoing 

sentence shall be referred to as the “Eligible Transferee(s)”. 

5. The Purchaser understands that no official statement, prospectus, offering circular, 

or other comprehensive offering statement is being provided with respect to the Bond.  The 

Purchaser has made its own inquiry and analysis with respect to the Issuer, the Bond and the 

security therefor, and other material factors affecting the security for and payment of the Bond. 

6. The Purchaser acknowledges that it has either been supplied with or been given 

access to information, including financial statements and other financial information, regarding 

the Issuer, to which a reasonable investor would attach significance in making investment 

decisions, and has had the opportunity to ask questions and receive answers from knowledgeable 

individuals concerning the Issuer, the Bond and the security therefor, so that as a reasonable 

investor, it has been able to make its decision to purchase the Bond. 

7. The Purchaser understands that the Bond (i) is not registered under the 1933 Act 

and is not registered or otherwise qualified for sale under the “Blue Sky” laws and regulations of 

any state, (ii) is not listed on any stock or other securities exchange, and (iii) carries no rating from 

any credit rating agency. 

71



   

{00751378}{00751378}Exhibit A  Page 2  {00751378}   

Form of Investor Letter 

8. The Bond is being acquired by the Purchaser for investment for its own account 

and not with a present view toward resale or distribution; provided, however, that the Purchaser 

reserves the right to sell, transfer or redistribute the Bond, but agrees that any such sale, transfer 

or distribution by the Purchaser shall be to a Person: 

(a) that is an affiliate of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association; 

(b) that is a trust or other custodial arrangement established by Wells Fargo 

Bank, National Association or one of its affiliates, the owners of any beneficial interest in 

which are limited to qualified institutional buyers or accredited investors; or 

(c) that is a qualified institutional buyer and a commercial bank having capital 

and surplus of $5,000,000,000 or more. 

9. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bond may not be transferred to any Eligible 

Transferee if the outstanding principal is less than $250,000 without the prior written consent of 

the Issuer. 

By                                                                   

Name                                                              

Title                                                                

 

 

 

72



   

{00751378}{00751378}Exhibit B  Page 1  {00751378}   

Form of Requisition 

 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF REQUISITION 

 

$__________________    Requisition No.  _____________ 

 

REQUISITION AND CERTIFICATE 

 

[DATE] 

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 

 

[ADDRESS] 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

On behalf of the City of Bethel, Alaska (the “City”), I hereby requisition from the funds 

representing the proceeds of the sale of the City’s Utility Revenue Bond, 2017 (the “Bond”), and 

dated [DATE], which funds have been or are to be deposited in the City’s Project Fund as described 

in Section 7 of the Bond Resolution, approved by the City’s Council on  [DATE] (the 

“Resolution”) of the City, the sum of $_________________ to be paid to the person or persons 

indicated below: 

(1) $__________________ for _____________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________

_______________ payable to _________________________________, and 

(2) $__________________ for _____________________________________ 

________________________________________________________________________

____________ payable to ______________________________________. 

I hereby certify that (a) the obligation to make such payment was incurred by the City in 

connection with wastewater utility project, is a proper charge against the costs of such project, and 

has not been the basis for any prior requisition which has been paid; (b) to the City’s knowledge, 

it has not received written notice of any lien, right to lien or attachment upon, or claim affecting 

the right of such payee to receive payment of, any of the money payable under this requisition to 

any of the persons, firms or corporations named herein, or if any notice of any such lien, attachment 

or claim has been received such lien, attachment or claim has been released or discharged or will 

be released or discharged upon payment of this requisition; (c) this requisition contains no items 

representing payment on account of any retained percentages which the City is entitled to retain at 

73



   

{00751378}{00751378}Exhibit B  Page 2  {00751378}   

Form of Requisition 

this date; and (d) no “Event of Default,” or event which after notice or lapse of time or both would 

constitute such an “Event of Default” has occurred and not been waived.  

Capitalized terms used in this requisition and certificate and not defined herein shall have 

the meanings assigned thereto in the Resolution. 

       

City Representative 

 

APPROVED this ____ day of ________, _____. 

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL  

     ASSOCIATION, as Purchaser  

By:   

Name:   

 Title:   

74



   

{00751378}{00751378}{00751378} 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

 I, the undersigned, duly chosen, qualified and acting City Clerk of the City of Bethel, 

Alaska (the “City”) and keeper of the records of the City Council of the City (the “Council”), DO 

HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 1. That the attached is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 17-19 of the Council 

(the “Resolution”), as adopted at a regular meeting of the Council held on October 24, 2017, and 

duly recorded in my office. 

 2. That said meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with 

law, and to the extent required by law, due and proper notice of such meeting was given; that a 

legal quorum of the Council was present throughout the meeting and a legally sufficient number 

of members of the Council voted in the proper manner for the passage of the Resolution; that all 

other requirements and proceedings incident to the proper passage of said Resolution have been 

duly fulfilled, carried out and otherwise observed, and that I am authorized to execute this 

certificate. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this _____ day of ________, 2017. 

 

 

       

City Clerk, City of Bethel 

75



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-65 

Date action introduced: October 24, 2017 Introduced by:   Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-65  

Postpone until November 28, the agenda items set for the November 14, Regular City 
Council Meeting due to a lack of a quorum for the Council’s November 14 Regular 
Meeting.    

Route to:  Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 
 
 

City Manager    

 City Attorney    

 

Amount of fiscal impact: None 

 

The Alaska Municipal League Conference is scheduled for November 13 through 17 in 

Anchorage.  With a majority of city council members attending the conference, the 

Council will not have a quorum of its membership in Bethel to hold a meeting.  

 

As provided for in Bethel Municipal Code 2.04.010, the City Council has the authority to 

postpone or reschedule a meeting if there is an expected lack of a quorum as long as at 

least one regular meeting is held each month.  

 

An alternate action:  
 

If the Council and/or administration finds that there is cause to hold a special meeting 

the week of November 20th, the Action Memorandum can be amended to strike 

November 28 and insert a date available to a majority of council members.   

76



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum 

No.  

17-66

Date action 

introduced: 

10/24/2017 Introduced 

by:  

Mayor Robb 

Date action taken:   Approved   Denied  

Confirmed by: 

AM No. 17-66 

Approve the Mayor’s appointment of Mary Nanuwak to the Public Safety and 

Transportation Commission for a term of three years. 

Route 
to: 

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

Attachment(s):  None 

Amount of fiscal 
impact: 

Account information: 

X No fiscal impact 

Action Memorandum 17-66 is sponsored by Mayor Robb, at the request of the City

Clerk’s Office. 

Mary Nanuwak has requested appointment to the Public Safety and Transportation 
Commission. If appointed, she would be appointed to a term of three years as an 

Alternate member with a term expiration of December 31, 2019. 

77



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-67 

Date action introduced: 10-24-2017 Introduced by:   Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-67  

Authorize the instillation of art in the YK Fitness Center as agreed to in the Memorandum of 
Agreement between the City of Bethel and Bethel Community Services Foundation and 
Rasmuson Foundation for the Tier 2 Grant: Art Project.  

Attachment(s):  Memorandum of Agreement 2016 

Route 
to:  

Department/Individual: Initials: Remarks: 

 
 

Pete Williams, City Manager   

 

Amount of fiscal impact: 

None 
The art is being purchased through a grant held with Bethel Community Services Foundation. 

 

The Rasmuson Foundation issued a grant to the City of Bethel to purchase furniture, fixtures 

and art for the YK Fitness Center. After the purchase of the furniture and fixtures the City 

entered into an MOA with Bethel Community Services Foundation (BCFS) transferring the 

remaining balance of the grant and the grant reporting obligations to BCSF.  

With the funding from the Rasmuson grant, BCFS coordinated a Community Art Selection 

Committee, its membership made up of employees of the City, volunteers on the City’s Parks, 

Recreation, Community Health and Safety Center Committee, employees of the YK Fitness 

Center, and volunteers not associated with either the City or the YK Fitness Center. Additionally, 

to ensure a fair and professional selection process was administered, BCSF hired a consultant 

who acted as a project manager throughout the request for proposal process.  

At the initial meeting of the selection committee, a number of art instillation locations were 

selected which focused on ensuring art would be observed from every communal area of the 

facility while considering the ease of cleaning and maintenance of the art. From that meeting 

three locations were identified: 

1. Wall hung art at end of hall stretching to the opposite end of the hallway near the 
eating/sitting space;  

2. Glass Panels above doors to pool;  
3. Exterior artwork in the breezeway above the entry doors;  
4. Community Residency- Potential location is in the entry way and/or around the concessions.   
 
Following months of preparation to include onsite observation by some of the artists, renderings 

were submitted for the committees review and final selection. The art collections range from 

glasswork on windows, murals on walls and lit metal art for the exterior. Additionally, a 

78



City of Bethel Action Memorandum 

Action memorandum No.  17-67 

Date action introduced: 10-24-2017 Introduced by:   Mayor Robb 

Date action taken: 
 

          Approved                                 Denied                                           

Confirmed by:  

 

AM No. 17-67  

community residency project was incorporated that would consist of artists working with the 

community to create an instillation piece. The location of this piece has yet to be finalized but 

the hope is that the artist would focus on the entryway and/or concessions area for the 

location. 

Bethel Community Services Foundation and the arts consultant have an arrangement 

with Architects Alaska, the designers of the facility, for artists to consult them again 

immediately prior to installation. While this is an option, the pieces chosen will not 

require any unusual modifications to the facility. The instillation of each of the pieces 

will be coordinated with the YK Fitness Center Director.  

The action before the Council is to authorize the installation of the art in the YK Fitness Center 

for the community’s enjoyment. This action has no financial burden on the City other than the 

maintenance/occasional cleaning of the art and a LED light used to illuminate the exterior art 

piece; both have been determined to be limited in their affects.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

79



Memorandum of Agreement
Between

City of Bethel and Bediel Community Services Foundation
Rasmuson Foundation Tier 2 Grant: Art Project

WHEREAS, the Qty of Bethel ("Oty") applied for and was awarded a Rasmuson Tier 2 grant In
the amount of $740,549 on June 25,2014 to pay for furniture, fixtures, equipment (FFE) needed in
the Yukon Kuskokwim Aquatic Health and Safety Center ("YK Fitness Center"), and an art project;

WHEREAS, the City spent $550,354.23 on FFE and has an unspent balance of $190,194.77 for
the art project;

WHEREAS, the Gty was able to purchase bleachers during the one year grant extension
ending June 30,2016, but did not start the art project;

WHEREAS, the Rasmuson Foundation asked Bethel Community Services Foundation ("BCSF")
to partner with the City in order to avoid another grant extension and have the art project completed
byBCSF;

WHEREAS, BCSF has a strong working relationship with the Rasmuson Foundation and Bethel
community organizations, and a stalwart reputation for fiscal responsibility;

WHEREAS, the Ot/s Parks, Recreation, Aquatic, Health and Safety Center ("PRAHSC)
Committee wants to be involved in the art project and may offer a good balance of input from
volunteers from the community and the Qty through its Qty Council representative who sits on the
committee;

WHEREAS, BCSF can establish and facilitate community engagement and assist in the
development of the criteria for the art and the artist(s) and/or artwork selection;

WHEREAS, Rasmuson Foundation encourages the BCSF-City partnership to complete the art
project and this Memorandum of Agreement to define party responsibilities;

WHEREAS, the City of Bethel and the Bethel Community Services Foundation desire to work
together to ensure Rasmuson Foundation Tier 2 grant funds given to the Qty are expended properly
on an art project for the YK Fitness Center;

NOW THEREFORE, the following responsibilities shall be completed by each party:

Qty of Bethel
1. Prepare and issue a check to BCSF for the remaining balance of unspent Rasmuson Foundation

Tier 2 grant funding ($190,194.77);

Memorandum of Agreement: 2016 Page 1 of 2
City of Bethel & BCSF

80



2. Complete and submit a Final Report to the Rasmuson Foundation detailing all grant-funded FFE
expenditures;

3. Provide approval in writing from the Bethel City Council and/or City Manager, if and when

needed, for the application of "art" to the City-owned YK Fitness Center building or for the
engagement in art project activities that have the potential to interfere with facility operations;

Bethel Community Services Foundation

1. Receive, deposit, and manage the balance of Rasmuson Foundation Tier 2 grant funds given to

BCSF from the City.

2. Authorize, oversee, and administer the expenditure of Rasmuson Foundation Tier 2 grant funds

on a permanent art project for the YK Fitness Center that satisfies Rasmuson Foundation;

3. Secure a contractor to assist with the artist/art advertising, selection and procurement process;

4. Establish a committee involving PRAHSC committee members, a council member, a minimum of

one city employee, a representative from FlealthFitness and other community volunteers who will

work with the contractor to establish criteria for the artwork and assist in the selection of an

artist and/or specific art;

5. Seek and obtain City approval, when required, for art application and any related alteration of the
city-owned YK Fitness Center or engagement in an art project activity that has the potential to

interfere with facility operations;

6. Prepare and submit a Final Report to the Rasmuson Foundation detailing all grant-funded art
project expenditures.

CITY OF BETHEL BETHEL COMMUNITY SERVICES FOUNDATION

U/MA.CiyyyiA-
Peter Williams Michelle DeWitt

Acting City Manager' Executive Director

Dated: ?/o^ f Dated: ) 1 ̂

RASMUSOtrPOUNDATION

PrintedJ^la;He: D\Q.nc.
Titre^-^^P^^rde^-V o/vd, Kso

Dated:
(O 1

Memorandum of Agreement: 2016 Page 2 of 2
City of Bethel & BCSF

81



16-65
September 27, 2016

16-65

LS
X

82



10/24/2017 PRAHSC

Pete Williams, City Manager

Bill Arnold, Public Works Director

X

Direct the City Administration to research the appropriate lifting equipment needed to
conduct necessary maintenance at the YK Fitness Center.

The contractors for the YK Fitness Center have been contracted to provide general
maintenance at the facility but have run into significant impediments to the accessibility
of the fixtures above the pool. The city does not own equipment that will 1.) fit into the
pool deck area due to the size of the doors and 2.) that will reach the needed space
above the pool.

To ensure continued maintenance on the facility it is important to begin considering
solutions to this outstanding issue.

17-68

83



17-69
October 24, 2017

AM 17-69
 of 2

84



AM 17-69
2 of 2

85



17-70
10-24-2017 City Manager Williams

17-70

1 of 286



17-70
City Manager Williams 10-24-2017

17-70

2 of 287



 

1 
 

 

 

CITY OF BETHEL 

BETHEL, ALASKA 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

Municipal Engineer and Planning Services 

 

City will accept proposals from  August 21 to September13, 2017 

 

 Deadline for Questions/Protests: September 1, 2017 @ 3pm AST 

 Proposal Opening (Due) Date: September 13, 2017 

Proposal Opening (Due) Time:  4:00 pm Alaska Time 

Proposal Opening Place:  City Hall 
 300 State Highway 
 Bethel, Alaska 99559 

 

88



 

1 
 

Contents 
Section 1 – Introduction .......................................................................................................... 3 

Objective ..................................................................................................................... 3 
Introduction ................................................................................................................. 3 
Background Information ............................................................................................ 3 

Section 2 – Instructions to Respondent ............................................................................... 4 
A. Questions or Clarifications ................................................................................ 4 
B. Protests ............................................................................................................... 4 
C. Addenda .............................................................................................................. 5 
D. Conflict of Interest .............................................................................................. 5 
E. Inducement.......................................................................................................... 5 
F. Non-Collusion ..................................................................................................... 5 
G. Debarment ........................................................................................................... 6 
H. Local Preference ................................................................................................. 6 
I. Good Standing .................................................................................................... 6 
J. Non-Discrimination ............................................................................................. 6 
K. Proposal Submission ......................................................................................... 6 
1) Hard Copy Submissions ....................................................................................... 6 
2) Electronic Submissions ......................................................................................... 7 
L. Proposal Format ................................................................................................. 7 
M. Withdrawal or Correction of Proposals ............................................................. 7 
N. Duplicate Proposals ........................................................................................... 7 
O. Proposal Terms and Requirements ................................................................... 8 
P. Interview .............................................................................................................. 8 
Q. Contract ............................................................................................................... 8 
R. Contract Commencement. ................................................................................. 8 

 
Section 3 – Selection Criteria ................................................................................................ 8 

 
Section 4 – Reservation of Rights ......................................................................................... 9 

A. Discussion: ......................................................................................................... 9 
B. Public Disclosure. ..............................................................................................10 
C. Confidentiality and Proprietary Information. ...................................................10 
D. Cost Liability. .....................................................................................................10 

Section 5 – Scope of Services ..............................................................................................10 
A. Introduction ........................................................................................................10 
B. Description .........................................................................................................10 
C. Sample Tasks .....................................................................................................11 
1) Construction Projects ...........................................................................................11 
2) Topographic Survey .............................................................................................12 
3) Plans and Specifications ......................................................................................12 
4) Supervision and Administration ............................................................................12 
5) Supervision and Inspection ..................................................................................12 
6) As-Built Construction Plans ..................................................................................14 
7) Planning ...............................................................................................................14 
8) Marine Projects ....................................................................................................14 

Section 6 – Respondent Requirements ...............................................................................14 

89



 

2 
 

A. General Requirements .......................................................................................14 
B. Minimum Requirements ....................................................................................15 
C. Bonus Requirements .........................................................................................16 

Section 7 – Scoring ...............................................................................................................16 
A. Professional Qualifications – 30 points ............................................................16 
B. Past involvement with Similar Projects - 30 points ..........................................16 
C. Proposed Work Plan - 20 points ........................................................................17 
D. Fee Proposal - 20 points ....................................................................................17 
E. Bonus – 10 points ..............................................................................................18 
F. Authorized Negotiator ........................................................................................18 
G. Appendices ........................................................................................................18 

Section 8 – Appendices ........................................................................................................19 
 

  

90



 

3 
 

Section 1 – Introduction 
Objective 

The City of Bethel is soliciting sealed proposals for the proposals for the purpose of selecting a 
qualified firm or firms to provide civil engineering and professional planning consulting services 
for the City on an as-needed basis.  
 

Introduction 
The City has a diverse need of engineering and planning services.  The City is involved in a 
number of projects, including, but not limited to, subdivision planning and review; platting; 
zoning; street maintenance; street design; sewer lagoon dredging; sewer lagoon rehabilitation; 
port expansion; development of an institutional corridor; reviewing requests for cell tower and 
wind tower applications, etc. 
 
The selected firm(s) will be expected to have all applicable licenses and experience to perform 
the necessary services. For projects outside the scope of expertise of the chosen firm(s), 
familiarity with and a strong referral base with other Alaska engineering firms will be essential.  
 

Background Information 
The City of Bethel is a second class city in which the City Manager is the principal administrator 
with full signature authority. The City Manager reports to seven City Council members. The 
Council elects the Mayor and Vice-Mayor from among its members.  All council member 
positions are volunteer positions.  
 
The City of Bethel occupies 44 square miles and is located about 75 miles inland from the 
Bering Sea on the Kuskokwim River. Bethel, with a population of 6,278 residents, is a regional 
hub for people living in the Yukon River and Kuskokwim River delta area. Two airlines provide 
year-round daily transportation from Anchorage to Bethel. Bethel has 36 miles of roads. The 
State of Alaska maintains 18 miles of paved roads and the City maintains 18 miles of gravel 
roads.  
 
The City has the following nine departments, each with a department director: Police, Fire, 
Port, Planning, Administration, Finance, Public Works, Swimming Pool, and Information 
Technology. Any of these departments may need an engineer, but the primary departments 
that need engineering services are: Public Works, Planning, and Port.  Some of the Departments 
may need the assistance of a Planner.    
 
The Public Works Department contains the following divisions: Property Maintenance, Vehicle 
& Equipment Maintenance, Hauled Utilities (water and sewer services), Utility Maintenance 
(piped water and sewer services), and Streets and Roads. The City has approximately 30 
buildings that it maintains, 17 water and sewer trucks, 25 pickup trucks and cars, two water 
treatment plants, above-ground insulated water and sewer pipes to 420 buildings, a 67-acre 
sewer lagoon, and a 17-acre landfill.  
 
The Streets and Roads Division maintains 18 miles of gravel roads, road shoulders, driveways, 

91



 

4 
 

and City building parking lots. The Division is responsible for snow removal and the application 
of sand or salt for traction in the winter. In the summer, the division must repair potholes and 
spray water on the roads to keep the dust down.  
 
The Port of Bethel operates and maintains the City Dock for cargo, Petro Port for offloading 
petroleum products, Seawall, small boat harbor, and floatplane landing beach. The City Dock 
uses 8 acres to handle 400+ dockings a year, including nine barges a summer from Anchorage 
and Seattle. The Petro Port off-loads 12 million gallons of fuel a year for Crowley Marine and 
Delta Western to store in the 15-million-gallon tank farm. The majority of seawall is constructed 
of pipe piles driven into the bottom of the river, welded together, and anchored underground. 
Other sections contain sheet piling. 
 
The Planning Department oversees and approves all site plan permits in town; approves all plat 
applications; all subdivision agreements; all requests for lot-line adjustments, easements, 
variances, etc.   
 
The City of Bethel also owns and operates an indoor 6-lane swimming pool housed in a state of 
the art facility containing a fully equipped gymnasium.   
 

Section 2 – Instructions to Respondent 

A. Questions or Clarifications 
All questions regarding this RFP shall be submitted via email.  Emailed questions and inquiries 
will be accepted from any and all prospective Respondents in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of this RFP. 
 
All questions shall be submitted on or before September 1, 2017 at 3:30 P.M. (AST) and should 
be addresses as follows: Engineer RFP and emailed to jchevigny@cityofbethel.org 
 
Should any prospective Respondent be in doubt as to the true meaning of any portion of this 
Request for Proposal, or should a prospective Respondent find any ambiguity, inconsistency or 
omission therein.  The Respondent shall make a written request for an official interpretation or 
correction.  Such requests must be submitted via email to jchevigny@cityofbethel.org by the 
deadline listed above. 
 

B. Protests 
Protests regarding any alleged improprieties or ambiguities in this request for proposals 
document must be filed with the purchasing agent no later than September 1, 2017 at 3:00 pm 
AST.  Information on how to file a protest can be found in section 4.20.270 of the Bethel 
Municipal Code.  The Code may be found on the City’s website: www.cityofbethel.org.   
 
 
 
 

92

mailto:jchevigny@cityofbethel.org
mailto:jchevigny@cityofbethel.org
http://www.cityofbethel.org/


 

5 
 

C. Addenda 
All interpretation or correction, as well as any additional RFP provisions that the City may 
decide to include, will be made only as an official addendum that will be posted to the City’s 
website: www.cityofbethel.org for all parties to download. 
 

It shall be the Respondent’s responsibility to ensure that they have received all addendums 
before submitting a proposal.  Any addendum issued by the City shall become part of the RFP 
and will be incorporated into the proposal. 
 
Each Respondent must, in its RFP, to avoid any miscommunications, acknowledge all addenda 
which it has received, but the failure of a Respondent to receive, or acknowledge receipt of; any 
addenda shall not relieve a Respondent of the responsibility for complying with the terms 
thereof. 
 
The City will not be bound by oral responses to inquiries or written responses other than 
written addenda. 
 

D. Conflict of Interest 
All City of Bethel employees and Bethel City Council members adhere to and follow a Conflict of 
Interest Policy prohibiting them from directly or indirectly participating in a procurement 
contract if the city employee or council member knows, or should reasonably know that: 
 

1. The city employee or council member or any member of the city employee’s family has 
a financial interest pertaining to the procurement contract. 

2. Any other person, business, or organization with whom the city employee or council 
member or any member of their immediate family is negotiating or has an 
arrangement concerning prospective employment is involved in the procurement.   

 
Violation of this policy by any Respondent is automatic grounds for disqualification of a 
proposal and/or a breach of contract.   
 

E. Inducement 
All City of Bethel employees and Council Members adhere to and follow the Conflict of 
Inducements Policy that prohibits gratuities or offers of employment in connection with a 
decision, approval, disapproval, or recommendation regarding any matter which affects the City 
or which the City is negotiating.  Any attempt by a Respondent to violate this policy is automatic 
grounds for disqualification of a proposal.   
 

F. Non-Collusion 
Evidence of collusion or other anticompetitive practices among  Respondents shall be grounds 
for disqualification. 
 
 

93

http://www.cityofbethel.org/


 

6 
 

G. Debarment 
Submission of a Proposal in response to this RFP is certification that the Respondent is not 
currently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, and/or declared ineligible or 
voluntarily excluded from participation in any transaction by any State or Federal departments 
or agency.  Submission is also agreement that the City will be notified of any changes in this 
status.  
 

H. Local Preference 
This Request for Proposals is eligible for local bidder preference as outlined in the Bethel 
Municipal Code (BMC), Section § 4.20.060. Respondents claiming the preference for scoring 
purposes must expressly state so in their proposal and must demonstrate full compliance with 
all of the requirements set out in BMC §4.20.060. 
 

I. Good Standing 
According to the Bethel Municipal Code 4.20.070: “No procurement contract may be awarded 
to a person, group, organization, or entity that is delinquent in the payment or collection of 
sales taxes, fees, charges, penalties, interest or other amounts that are due owing, or otherwise 
obligated to the City which is not remedied within ten (10) business days of notice to the 
selected bidder. See Bethel Municipal Code on City website (www.cityofbethel.org). 
 

J. Non-Discrimination 
The City will not contract with any persons or entities that discriminate against employees or 
applicants for any reason other than those related to job performance. All prospective 
Respondents will comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and policies that prohibit 
discrimination in the workplace.  The City will not discriminate because of race, creed, religion, 
color, national origin, ancestry, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, marital status, 
change in marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, disability status, genetic information, political 
affiliation or status as a disabled veteran.  
 

K. Proposal Submission 
All proposals are due and must be delivered to the City Procurement office on or before 
September 13, 2017 at 4:00 pm AST.  Proposals submitted late or via oral, telephonic or 
telegraphic means will not be considered or accepted. 
 
Each Respondent must submit one (1) original Proposal and four (4) additional Proposal copies.  
Only one (1) copy of the Proposal Fee shall be submitted in a separate sealed envelope 
contained within the Respondent’s sealed proposal.   
 
Proposals may be delivered either by hard copy or by electronic submission.   
 

1) Hard Copy Submissions 
Proposals submitted in hard copy form must be in a sealed envelope marked: RFP for  
Engineering Services and then list Respondent’s name, address and phone number.  
 

94

http://www.cityofbethel.org/


 

7 
 

Mail* completed proposal packages to:  Deliver* to: 
Jim Chevigny, Purchasing Agent   Jim Chevigny, Purchasing Agent 
City of Bethel      City of Bethel 
PO Box 1388      City Hall / 300 State Highway 
Bethel, AK 99559-1388    Bethel, AK 99559-1388 
 
* NOTE: This is rural Alaska.  Mail is unpredictable and weather dependent.  So is UPS, Fed-Ex, 
DHL, etc.  Plan to submit the documents a few days early to ensure on time arrival.  Even if 
mailed on time, there is no guarantee it will be received and in the City’s possession by the 
deadline if sent too close to the deadline. 
 

2) Electronic Submissions 
Proposals may be submitted by email or facsimile.  Proposals submitted electronically must be 
in either MS Word format or PDF format and sent by email to Jim Chevigny, Purchasing Agent at 
jchevigny@cityofbethel.net or (907) 543-5294.  The subject line of the email or fax must read: 
RFP for Engineering Services. The City is not responsible for incomplete transmissions or 
unsuccessful delivery by electronic means.  The City will not send an acknowledgment receipt 
of the proposal.  
  

L. Proposal Format 
Proposals should respond directly to the evaluation criteria set out in this RFP.  Material other 
than that requested is not required or desired.  Clarity and brevity are encouraged. No erasures 
are permitted.  Mistakes may be crossed out and corrected and must be initialed in ink by the 
person signing the proposal.     
 
Proposals should strive not to exceed twenty (20) pages.  A page is defined as a standard 8 ½” x 
11” paper.  Larger sheets are strongly discouraged unless critical to the Respondent’s 
presentation.  Larger sheets will count as two (2) pages. 
 
Proposals must not include any plastic covers, binders, or other non-recyclable materials.  Fee 
proposals must be submitted in a separate sealed envelope at the same time.  All envelopes for 
technical proposals and separate fee proposals must be clearly marked: RFP for Engineering 
Services. 
 

M. Withdrawal or Correction of Proposals 
Proposals may be withdrawn by written notice prior to the submittal deadline.  Corrections may 
be made to proposals submitted if prior to the submittal deadline. 
 

N. Duplicate Proposals 
The City will only accept one (1) Proposal per Respondent, including its subsidiaries, affiliated 
companies, organizations, or franchises.  If multiple Proposals are received from the same 
Respondent, all proposals from the Respondent will be rejected.  Multiple proposals indicate 
proposals that differ in substance, not the required copies of the proposal. 
 

95

mailto:jchevigny@cityofbethel.net


 

8 
 

O. Proposal Terms and Requirements 
Proposals must be signed in ink by an official authorized to bind the Respondent to its provision 
for at least a period of one hundred eighty (180) days from the date this RFP is due.  Failure of 
the successful Respondent to accept the obligation of the contract may result in the cancelation 
of an award. 
 

P. Interview 
The City has the right to request interviews with selected Respondents when necessary.  The 
selected Respondents will be given the opportunity to discuss in more detail their 
qualifications, past experience, proposed work plan and fee proposal.  The interview must 
include the project team members expected to complete a majority of work on the project but 
no more than six (6) members total.  The interview shall consist of a presentation by the 
Respondent, including the person who will be the project manager on this Contract, followed 
by questions and answers.  Audiovisual aids may be used during the oral interviews.  The oral 
interviews may be recorded or taped by the Evaluation Team. 
 
If the City chooses to interview any Respondents, the interviews will be held September 20 and 
21, 2017.  Respondents selected for interview will be expected to be available that week.  
Respondents will have the choice to conduct their interviews via telephone, Skype or face-to-
face. 
 

Q. Contract 
Consultants selected to do business with the City of Bethel will be required to execute the City’s 
standard Professional Services Agreement with the City (a sample agreement is included with 
this RFP).  Those who wish to submit a proposal to the City are required to carefully review the 
Professional Services Agreement.  Respondents should specifically note that the insurance 
requirements under a City contract are listed in Section 27 of the sample contract.  Any 
requests to revise, amend, or change the language of either the Professional Services 
Agreement or the insurance requirements must be stated in writing in the proposal.  The 
Professional Services Agreement will be for the overall as-needed services and will reflect the 
fixed general costs for the approximately five (5) years of service.  It is expected the Scope of 
Services will be amended per project as will the total price per project.   
 

R. Contract Commencement. 
Commencement of a contract shall not begin until all necessary documents are received and 
reviewed; and all City approvals have been completed, including City Council approval. 
Commencement of a contract without these requirements will be at the Respondent’s sole risk 
and not compensated by the City.  
 

Section 3 – Selection Criteria 
Responses to this RFP will be evaluated using a point system as described in Section 7.  The 
evaluation will be completed by a Selection Committee composed of staff members from 
various units of the City.   
 

96



 

9 
 

At the initial evaluation, the fee proposals will not be reviewed.  The initial evaluation is to 
determine which, if any, Respondents are to be interviewed.  Respondents fee proposals will 
only be opened for Respondents selected for interview, if the City elects to conduct interviews. 
 
During interviews, selected Respondent(s) will have the opportunity to discuss in more detail 
their qualifications, experience, proposed work plan, and fee proposal during the interview 
process.  The City of Bethel further reserves the right to interview the key personnel anticipated 
to be assigned if the firm is selected.  To decide the most qualified, capable and cost-effective 
Respondent, the Section Committee will evaluate the proposal(s) and interview(s) using the 
point system outlined in Section 6 below.   
 

Section 4 – Reservation of Rights 
The City reserves the right to reject any and all proposal, to waive or not waive informalities or 
irregularities in the response procedures, and to accept or further negotiate cost, terms, or 
conditions of any proposal determined by the City to be in the best interest of the City.  All 
agreements resulting from negotiations that differ from what is represented within the RFP or 
in the Respondent’s response, shall be documented and included as part of the final contract.  
 
The City reserves the right to accept any Proposal or alternative Proposal proposed in whole or 
in part, to reject all Proposals or alternative Proposals in whole or in part and to waive any 
irregularity and/or informalities in any Proposal and to make the award in any manner deemed 
in the best interest of the City.   
 
The City reserves the right not to consider any Proposal which it determines to be unresponsive 
and/or deficient in any of the information requested within the RFP. 
 
The City reserves the right to determine whether the scope of the services will be entirely as 
described in the RFP, a portion of the scope, or that a revised scope be implemented.   
 
All proposals become the property of the City of Bethel, whether awarded or rejected. 
 
The accepting and opening of a proposal document does not constitute the City’s acceptance of 
the Respondent as a responsive and responsible Offeror.  By accepting and opening of a 
proposal, the City presumes the Respondents are familiar with the procurement documents 
and agree and understand all requirements in this document. 
 
The selected Respondent will be required to provide the City an IRS form W-9. 
 
The City is tax exempt from all taxes.  The Respondent, if awarded a contract for this work, shall 
be responsible for all taxes that may be applicable to this work. 
 

A. Discussion: 
Discussion with Proposers may commence after the opening of all proposals to further clarify 
and or assure full understanding of solicitation requirements. 

97



 

10 
 

 
 
 

B. Public Disclosure.  
All information in Respondent’s Proposal is subjected to disclosure under the provisions of 
Alaska’s Public Records Laws (AS 40.25.100 et seq.) and corresponding provisions of the Bethel 
Municipal Code (BMC § 2.40).  These laws and ordinances also provide for the complete 
disclosure of contracts and attachments thereto except as expressly exempted under Law. 
 

C. Confidentiality and Proprietary Information.  
If any information is proprietary, an original shall be delivered which is clearly marked 
PROPRIETARY and an additional copy shall be submitted omitting the proprietary information 
for City use. The copy containing proprietary information will be solely for City use and then 
disposed of after a contract is issued. The omitted copy will remain on file and part of the RFP 
documents for future use or records requests.   If the City disagrees that information marked 
“proprietary” is actually confidential or proprietary, the City shall give written notice of the 
disagreement to the Proposer and will provide the Proposer an opportunity to justify why the 
item is proprietary or confidential. 
 

D. Cost Liability.   
The City of Bethel assumes no responsibility or liability for costs incurred by a Respondent prior 
to execution of a Professional Services Agreement.  By submitting a Proposal, Respondent 
agrees to bear all costs incurred or related to the preparation, submission and selection process 
for the proposal.   

Section 5 – Scope of Services 

A. Introduction 
The City of Bethel is requesting proposals from professional firms able to provide a variety of 
engineering and planning services required by the City and to assist the City as needed.  The 
engineering and planning services desired include, but are not limited to, preparation of plans, 
specifications and estimates of costs for construction projects, detailed studies on specific 
items, conducting investigations, preparation of reports, land surveying activities, construction 
inspection, marine construction, and construction contract administration.  
 

B. Description 
Civil Engineering, planning and consulting services to be provided may include: 
 

1. Preparation of plans and specifications for construction projects varying in 
complexity, for a portion or the entire project.  Services may include preliminary 
plans and cost estimates, necessary field work, drafting, design, surveying, bid 
assistance, construction inspection and project management. 

 

98



 

11 
 

2. Preparation of specialized engineering studies on a variety of subjects including, but 
not limited to drainage studies, water and sewer infrastructure impact costs, and 
construction feasibility studies. 

 

3. Preparation of Permit Applications for public water and sewer construction; landfill 
disposal; Preliminary Engineering Reports; Environmental Reports; etc. 

 

4. Coordination, facilitation, and/or attendance at project-related meetings, such as 
pre-bid, pre-construction and project progress meetings. 

 

5. Construction administration and engineering, including, but not limited to, review 
and approval of material submittals, daily construction observation and 
documentation, coordination of contractor’s work and preparation of Engineer’s 
Certificates. 

 

6. Surveying activities including, but not limited to topographic survey, title search, 
easement legal description preparation, staking and cut-sheet preparation. 

 

7. Review of proposed subdivision plans for compliance with Bethel Code, State and 
Federal Laws and generally accepted practices. 

 

8. Review of as-builts; architectural plans; other engineering reports; site plan permit 
applications and other planning or construction related documents. 

 

9. Review of and assistance with easements; rights-of-way; lot line adjustments; 
zoning; and other planning related matters. 

 

10. Review of Army Corp. of Engineer projects; seawall maintenance; harbor dredging; 
and other marine projects. 

 

11. Assist with obtaining and/or reviewing easements and rights-of-way. 
 

12. Perform Cost/Benefit Analysis, especially for use in applying for grants. 
 

13. Perform Life Cycle Cost Analysis. 
 

C. Sample Tasks 
 

1) Construction Projects 
Engineering or project management services as requested on public works projects 
including, but not limited to sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water mains, street paving, 

99



 

12 
 

sidewalks, drainage projects, and building repairs in accordance with City and State 
standards and procedures. 
 

2) Topographic Survey 
Perform various topographical surveying tasks as requested for the preparation of civil 
engineering construction plans. The desired surveying services will include, but not be limited 
to the gathering of topographical survey data and providing digital submissions. It is understood 
that the final work product will be a complete survey that will contain all known site features 
and will be ready for use as a base drawing for final engineering plans. 

 

3) Plans and Specifications 
Preparation of plans and specifications which may include preliminary reports, identification of 
alternatives, cost estimates and contract documents. The consultant shall may also be required 
to secure all necessary permits from all approving agencies including, but not limited to 
the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) and the Army Corp. of Engineers 
(Corp.). 
 

4) Supervision and Administration 
Any contract administration work shall require the performance of all general field services 
required on construction projects such as construction staking, continuous monitoring of the 
project, coordination and supervision of testing services, approval and correction of shop 
drawings, attendance at meetings and conferences, final inspection and measurement, 
periodic reporting of progress, preparation of progress payments, review and recommendation 
of claims, preparation of change orders and preparation of final payment. 
 

5) Supervision and Inspection 
Engineering supervision and full time inspection services may be requested on construction 
work.  When those services are requested,  sufficient personnel as agreed upon by the City 
shall be assigned to the construction project to assure that each element of the project is 
constructed in keeping with the plans and specifications approved by the City. 
 
Activities associated with this task will be dedicated to verifying that all materials provided and 
work performed is in conformance with the project plans and specifications and may include: 
 

a) Providing inspection personnel that possess the necessary, current 
accreditations consistent with industry standards; 

b) Thorough review of the plans and specifications, and other project related 
documents prior to construction start up; 

c) Daily communication with contractor supervision to coordinate inspection 
activities and to properly inspect, test, measure and document the work; 

d) Daily communication with the contractor advising of needed corrections to the 
work –  i.e. traffic control, soil erosion device maintenance, etc.; 

e) Daily communication with the survey crew(s) to obtain proper interpretation of 

100



 

13 
 

stakes and coordinate daily staking needs; 
f) Daily communication with testing personnel to properly sample and test the 

materials and work; 
g) Attend progress/planning meetings, either by telephone or in person as 

requested; 
h) Inspect materials to be used in the work, verifying they meet the project 

specifications; 
i) Document material usage and quantities on Daily Observation Reports; 
j) Review/inspect the Contractor’s equipment to confirm it meets the  project 

specifications and document the specific type and amount of equipment used on 
the Daily Observation Reports; 

k) Inspect the Contractor’s workmanship to verify that it meets the methods, 
tolerances, time requirements, temperature requirements, etc., of the 
specifications and document this on Daily Observation Reports; 

l) Inspect and document that the work is performed and completed to the lines, 
grades and elevations required by the project plans and specifications; 

m) Document daily Contractor workforce and weather conditions on the Daily 
Observation Reports; 

n) Document daily Contractor activities, including any description and explanation 
of downtime, damage to the work, any actions taken by others including private 
utilities, City forces, adjacent property owners, etc., on the Daily Observation 
Reports; 

o) Where possible, measure final work as it’s done by the contractor, calculate 
quantities and document this on the Daily Observation Report; 

p) If applicable, Conduct daily review/inspection of temporary traffic control 
devices and the maintenance of traffic throughout the construction influence 
area; 

q) Conduct periodic nighttime review/inspection of temporary traffic control devices 
and the maintenance of traffic throughout the construction influence area, as 
needed (if applicable); 

r) Provide certified storm water operators and conduct daily inspection of all  soil 
erosion and sedimentation control devices for proper maintenance and 
effectiveness as placed; 

s) Perform and document NPDES inspections at the required frequencies, suspend 
any work and/or reject any materials not conforming to the contract requirements; 

t) Perform and document wage rate interviews on State and Federally funded 
projects; 

u) Document changes, extra work, “revisions to” notes, etc. on the plans provided 
to the inspector to assist in preparation of “as built” plans; 

v) Develop and maintain the project “punch list”; 
w) Keep all needed force account documentation, as required. 

 
 

101



 

14 
 

6) As-Built Construction Plans 
 
The specific tasks associated with the development of the “as-built” plans include: 
 

a) Obtaining “original” electronic format contract plans from the City or Contractor; 
 

b) Documenting all plan changes, extra work, “revisions to” notes, etc. as 
project work progresses; 

 
c) Collecting and confirming all field changes, developing the appropriate “as-

constructed” notes; 
 

d) Developing/drafting the “as-built” drawings, reviewing and approving the “as-
built” plans. 

 
The “as-built” plans will conform to the City’s Standard Specifications and will be provided 
to the City on CD or other approved media. As-built plans shall be provided within one month of 
completion of a project. 
 

7) Planning  

Review or assist in the review of applications for cell towers and wind turbines.  Review or 
assist in the review of applications for commercial and residential site plan permits, looking for 
compliance with in-fill, the Bethel Municipal Code, and other agencies such as the State Fire 
Marshall and/or the Army Corp. of Engineers, as applicable.  Assisting or substituting for the 
City Planner on the review and approval of proposed subdivision Plats, subdivision agreements, 
zoning changes, variance requests, and other Planning matters. 
 

8) Marine Projects 

Provide structural reports on various areas of the Port Facilities such as the Small Boat Harbor, 
the Petro Dock, or the Main Port.  Provide Concept Plans.  Review and supervise Harbor 
Dredging projects, including the procurement of Army Corp. of Engineer permitting and the 
disposal of the dredge materials.   
 

Section 6 – Respondent Requirements 

 
A. General Requirements 

 
1. Ability to work effectively with the City’s staff with respect to any of the civil 

engineering and planning services required by the City. 
 
2. Ability to work effectively with the public and regulatory agencies. 
 

102



 

15 
 

3. The ability to function in a support role to the City staff.  The consultant’s services 
may be utilized for civil engineering and/or planning activities that exceed the 
staffing level or expertise of the City staff. 

 

4. The ability meet deadlines. 
 
 

B. Minimum Requirements 
 
In keeping with the objective, description, the requirements, and the Respondent’s tasks as 
previously indicated in this Request for Proposal, the Respondents submitting proposals shall 
outline, in detail, the manner in which Respondent shall work with the City to fulfill the City’s 
needs. 
 
The outline, at a minimum, shall address: 
 

1. Staffing and personnel. 
 

2. Communication and coordination. 
 

3. Compatibility with City’s standards, goals and objectives. 
 

4. Working relationship between Respondent and City staff. 
 

5. Information which will assist the City to determine the Respondent’s capability 
of performing the work.  

 
6. Detailed scope of services to demonstrate the Respondent’s capability to 

produce bid documents for a full array of civil engineering and projects including, but 
not limited to, above-ground construction, surface-level storm water handling design 
and construction, feasibility studies, road design and construction, repair of existing 
buildings and other structures. 
 

7. Detailed scope of services that demonstrate Respondent’s experience in 
assisting Rural municipalities with infrastructure projects such as water, sewer, landfill, 
roads, marine facilities, etc. 
 

8. Detailed scope of services that demonstrate Respondent’s experience in 
assisting Rural municipalities with Planning services such as subdivision agreements, 
zoning, rights of ways, easements, lot line adjustments, etc. 
 

 

103



 

16 
 

C. Bonus Requirements 
Scope of services demonstrating experience assisting municipalities or private sector with 
swimming pool maintenance.   
 

Section 7 – Scoring 

Respondents should organize Proposals into the following Sections: 
 

1. Professional Qualifications 
2. Past Involvement with Similar Projects 
3. Proposed Work Plan 
4. Fee Proposal (include in a separate sealed envelope) 
5. Authorized Negotiator 
6. Appendices 

 
The following Section describes the elements that should be included in each of these proposal 
sections and the weighted point system that will be used for evaluation of the proposals. 
 

A. Professional Qualifications – 30 points 
1. State the full name and address of your organization and, if applicable, the branch office 

or other subordinate element that will perform, or assist in performing, the work 
hereunder. Indicate whether it operates as an individual, partnership, or corporation. If 
as a corporation, include the state in which it is incorporated. If appropriate, indicate 
whether it is licensed to operate in the State of Alaska. 
 

2. Include the number of executive and professional personnel by skill and qualification 
that will be employed in the work.  Show where these personnel will be physically 
located during the time they are engaged in the work.  Indicate which of these 
individuals you consider key to the successful completion of any project.  Identify only 
individuals who will do the work on key projects by name and title.  Resumes or 
qualifications are required for proposed project personnel who are anticipated to be 
assigned. Qualifications and capabilities of any sub-consultants must also be included. 
 

3. List sub-engineers, partners, and engineers from other companies that may be 
frequently utilized.  Include a Statement of Qualifications for each identified company. 
 

4. State history of the firm, in terms of length of existence, types of services provided, etc. 
Identify the technical details which make the firm qualified for this work. 
 

B. Past involvement with Similar Projects - 30 points 
1. Description of significant work completed by Respondent in the last five (5) years that 

most closely matches the work outlined in this Proposal.  

104



 

17 
 

2. Address as many of the following as possible: preliminary engineering reports; 
environmental reports for water and sewer development projects; gravel road 
development; cost estimates; subdivision impact studies; easement acquisition; right-of-
way development, acquisition; and NEPA compliance.    

3. The proposal must also indicate proven ability to have projects completed within the 
budgeted amounts.  A summary of related projects with the original deadline and cost 
estimate versus the actual completion date and final cost of the design is to be included 
in this section.   

4. A complete list of client references must be provided for similar projects recently 
completed.  The list shall include firm/agency’s name, contact name, project title, owner 
name, address, and phone number. 

 
C. Proposed Work Plan - 20 points 

 
A detailed work plan is to be presented which lists all tasks determined to be necessary to 
accomplish the work of the projects set out in this RFP. The work plan shall include, but not be 
limited to the objectives/tasks listed in Section 5(C) of the RFP.  The work plan shall define 
resources needed for each task (title and person hours) and the staff persons completing the 
project element tasks.  In addition, the work plan shall include a time line schedule depicting 
the sequence and duration of tasks showing how the work will be organized and executed. 
 
The work plan shall be sufficiently detailed and clear to identify the progress milestones (i.e., 
when project elements, measures, and deliverables) are to be completed.  Additional project 
elements suggested by the respondent that are thought to be necessary for the completion of 
the project are to be included in the work plan and identified as respondent-suggested 
elements. 
 
Identify all of those, if any, who will be subcontracted to assist you with this project, and the 
extent of work for which they will be responsible. Include similar reference data for 
subcontractors and employees as requested above for the main respondent. 
 
Include any other information that you believe to be pertinent, but not specifically asked for 
elsewhere. 
 

D. Fee Proposal - 20 points 
 
Fee proposals shall be submitted in a single separate sealed envelope with the proposal. Any 
proposal not complying with this requirement may be subject to disqualification. 
 
Fee proposals are to include the names, title, hourly rates, overhead factors, and any other 
details anticipated to meet the needs of the City, including those of other firms, and all 
supporting positions and rates.  Include all costs associated with the provision of services, such 
as travel costs to Bethel, per diem, lodging, photocopies, etc.   While the total cost of each 
project will naturally vary, the fees proposed should be those of the key personnel, any 

105



 

18 
 

customary support staff anticipated on projects, and anticipated costs: travel, per diem, 
photocopies, etc. 
 
In order to have a fair basis of comparison, Respondents will be scored on common 
denominators: for example, but not necessarily, only the rates of the lead project manager and 
2 support staff plus costs for travel and certain ancillary costs (photocopies). 
 
The City reserves the right to negotiate proposed fees prior to signing a formal contract, if such 
negotiation appears justified and/or to negotiate fees prior to a project.   
 

E. Bonus – 10 points 
Identify past experience and ability to assist the City with the maintenance of an indoor 
swimming pool and gymnasium.  Maximum bonus points provided for experience with 
municipal pool facilities. 
 

F. Authorized Negotiator 
 
Include the name and phone number of persons(s) in your organization authorized to negotiate 
the Scope of Work with the City. 
 

G. Appendices 
 
Appendix A (Signatures and Verification Page) must be completed and returned with the 
proposal.  
 
Proposal Evaluation 
 

1. The Selection Committee will evaluate each proposal by the above described criteria 
and point system (A through C) to select a short list of firms for further consideration. A 
proposal with all the requested information does not guarantee the proposing firm to 
be a candidate for an interview.  The Committee may contact references to verify 
material submitted by the Respondents.   
 

2. If needed, the Committee then will schedule the interviews with the selected firms.  The 
selected firms will be given the opportunity to discuss in more detail their qualifications, 
past experience, proposed work plan and fee proposal.  The interview must include key  
project team members expected to complete a majority of work on City projects, but no 
more than 6 members total.  The interview shall consist of a presentation of 
approximately thirty (30) minutes by the Respondent, including the person who will be 
the project manager on this Contract, followed by approximately thirty (30) minutes of 
questions and answers.  Audiovisual aids may be used during the oral interviews. The 
oral interviews may be recorded on tape by the Evaluation Team.  In addition to the 

106



 

19 
 

Selection Committee, other key members of the City staff may elect to participate in the 
interview.   
 

3. The firms interviewed will then be re-evaluated by the described criteria (A through D) 
and adjustments to scoring will be made as appropriate.  After evaluation of the 
proposals. 
 

4. After evaluation of the proposals, further negotiation with the selected firm may be 
pursued leading to the award of a contract by City Council, if suitable proposals are 
received. 

 

The City reserves the right to not consider any proposal which is determined to be 
unresponsive and deficient in any of the information requested for evaluation. The City 
also reserves the right to waive the interview process and evaluate the consultants 
based on their proposals and fee schedules alone. 

 

Finally, the City reserves the right to contract with multiple firms.   
 

Section 8 – Appendices 

 

Attachment A – Signature and Verification Page 

Attachment B – Draft Professional Services Contract 

 
  

 
 

  

107



 

20 
 

Attachment A 
 

SIGNATURE AND VERIFICATION PAGE 
 
 
By signing below, I hereby acknowledge the following: 
 

1. Proposer, nor any of their representatives or third party mandated by Proposer, has 
attempted to contact City representatives or members of the selection committee for 
the purpose of influencing their choice, judgment or recommendation relating to the 
contract, or with members of the City Council to influence their decision; 
 

2. Proposer has produced the proposal without collusion, communication, agreement or 

arrangement with a competitor with regards to price, methods, factors or formulas for 

setting prices, to the decision to submit a proposal or to present a proposal that does 

not comply, directly or indirectly, with specifications contained in the request for 

proposals; 

 

3. Neither the proposer nor any of its representatives engaged in discrimination, 

intimidating measures, influence peddling or corruption or entered into any form of 

collusion, communication, agreement or arrangement with other suppliers or third 

parties relating to a contract with the City of Bethel. 

 
Acknowledgement of Receipt of Addenda 
 

4. I hereby acknowledge receipt of any and all addenda associated with the Request for 
Proposals for Municipal Engineer Services. 

 

Name (printed): 
 

Title: 
 

Company Name and Mailing Address: 
 
 
 

Telephone Number: 
Fax Number: 
E-mail Address: 

Signature: 
 
 

 

108



 

21 
 

Attachment B 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

FOR 
 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINNERING & PLANNING SERVICES 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this _______day of September 2017, by and between 
the CITY OF BETHEL and       . 
 

Section 01 Definition 
In this Agreement: 
A. The term “City” means the City of Bethel. 
B. The term “Consultant” means      .   
C. The term “Manager” means the manager of the City of Bethel or their authorized 
representative. 
 
Section 02 Engagement of Consultant 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Consultant and the Consultant hereby agrees to perform 
the services hereafter set forth. 
 
Section 03 Scope of Services 
The Consultant shall perform all the services customary to civil engineering and planning on an 
as-needed basis pursuant to this Agreement and as mutually agreed to and described in  
provided for by this Agreement which are described with particularity in Exhibit “A, #  ,” 
entitled Scope of Services, to be attached to each project.   
 
Section 04 Availability of Consultant 
Consultant’s occasional unavailability or inability to assist with a particular project shall not be 
considered a breach of this Agreement.  In the situation where Consultant is unavailable or 
unable to perform the requested as-needed services, Consultant shall decline the work, in 
writing, within five (5) calendar days of the request for assistance.  In such situation, the City 
may contact another firm to perform the declined services without being in breach of this 
Agreement.  City’s use of the alternate firm shall be limited to those situations where 
Consultant provides written notice of unavailability or inability to assist.    
 

Section 05 Personnel 
Personnel shall be limited to employees of       . 
 
Section 06 Term of Engagement 
The services of the Consultant shall be on an as-needed basis by the City from the period of 
September  , 2017 through June 30, 2022.   
 

109



 

22 
 

Section 07 Compensation 
A. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the City shall pay the Consultant for all 

services and expenses for the term of this Agreement the sums as set forth in Exhibit 
“B,” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, for services requested 
under this Agreement. 

B. Travel or per diem Exhibit “B.”   
C. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City shall not provide any 

additional compensation, payment, use of facilities, service or other thing of value to 
the Consultant in connection with performance of Agreement duties.  The parties 
understand and agree that, except as otherwise provided in this section, administrative 
overhead and other indirect or direct costs the Consultant may incur in the performance 
of its obligations under this Agreement have already been included in computation of 
the Consultant’s fee and may not be charged to the City. 

D.  It is understood the sums stated in this Agreement are the per/hour fees for service and 
the rates for certain items such as travel, lodging, photocopies, etc., and are not 
inclusive of the total cost of each project.  

E.  It is understood the total cost of each project shall be negotiated in advance of each 
project and attached to this Agreement as Exhibit “C, #  .”  

 
Section 08 Method and Time of Payment 

A. The City will pay to the Consultant the amounts set forth in Exhibit “C” which shall 
constitute the full and complete compensation for the Consultant’s professional 
services.  That sum will be paid on receipt of billings submitted pursuant to a schedule 
set forth in Exhibits “B and C.”  If not identified within Exhibit “B,” normal billing cycle is 
30 calendar days from receipt of an approved invoice.  A billing is a summary of 
expenditures to date by line item categories (e.g., Personal Services, Travel, Contractual, 
Commodities and Equipment).  Documentation of expenditures need not be submitted 
with billings but must be retained by the Consultant in the event the City requests said 
documentation.  Funds for this agreement are subject to appropriation by the Bethel 
City Council. 

B. No payment will be disbursed until the completed task and associated expenditures 
have been approved by the City.   

C. All invoices must be submitted in duplicate and addressed as follows: 
City of Bethel 

Attn: City Manager 
PO Box 1388 

Bethel AK 99559-1388 
 

Section 09 Termination of Agreement for Cause 
If, through any cause, the Consultant shall fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner the 
obligations under this Agreement or if the Consultant shall violate any of the covenants, 
agreements, or stipulations of this Agreement, the City shall thereupon have the right to 
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Consultant of such termination and 
specifying the effective date thereof, at least twenty (20) days before the effective date of such 

110



 

23 
 

termination.  All finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, surveys and reports or other 
material prepared by the Consultant under this Agreement are the property of the City and 
shall be delivered to the City by or upon the effective date of termination.  The Consultant shall 
be entitled to receive compensation in accordance with the payment provisions of Appendix 
“B” of this Agreement only for work completed to the City’s satisfaction in accordance with 
Appendix “A” of this Agreement and the other terms of this Agreement. 
 
Section 10 Termination for Convenience of City 
The City may terminate this contract at any time by giving written notice to the Consultant of 
such termination and specifying the effective date of such termination.  All finished or 
unfinished documents and other materials as described in Section 8 above are the property of 
the City and shall be delivered to the City by or upon the effective date of execution of this 
section.  The Consultant shall be entitled to receive compensation in accordance with the 
payment provisions of Appendix “B” of this Agreement only for work completed to the City’s 
satisfaction in accordance with Appendix “A” of this Agreement and the other terms of this 
Agreement.  If this Agreement is terminated due to the fault of the Consultant, Section 8 of this 
Agreement shall govern the rights and liabilities of the parties. 
 
Section 11 Causes Beyond Control 
In the event the Consultant is prevented by a cause or causes beyond control of the Consultant 
from performing any obligation of this Agreement, non-performance resulting from such cause 
or causes shall not be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement which will render the 
Consultant liable for damages or give rights to the cancellation of the Agreement for cause.  
However, if and when such cause or causes cease to prevent performance, the Consultant shall 
exercise all reasonable diligence to resume and complete performance of the obligation with 
the least possible delay.  The phrase “cause or causes beyond control,” as used in this section, 
means any one or more of the following causes which are not attributable to the fault or 
negligence of the Consultant and which prevent the performance of the Consultant:  fire, 
explosions, acts of God, war, orders or law of duly constituted public authorities, and other 
major uncontrollable and unavoidable events, all of the foregoing which must actually prevent 
the Consultant from performing the terms of the Agreement as set forth herein.  Events which 
are peculiar to the Consultant and would not prevent another Consultant from performing, 
including, but not limited to financial difficulties, are not causes beyond the control of the 
Consultant.  The City will determine whether the event preventing the Consultant from 
performing is a cause beyond the Consultant’s control. 
 
Section 12 Modifications 

A. The parties may mutually agree to modify the terms of the Agreement.  Modifications to 
the Agreement shall be incorporated into the Agreement by written amendments.  

B. It is expressly understood that the City may require changes in the scope of services and 
an unreasonable refusal by the Consultant to agree to modification in the scope of 
services will be the basis for termination of the Agreement for cause.  It is expressly 
understood that the total amount of compensation for successful performance of the 

111



 

24 
 

Agreement will not be modified, under any circumstances, without prior written 
approval of the City. 

 
Section 13 Equal Employment Opportunity 

A. The Consultant will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, physical handicap, age, status as a 
disabled veteran, or veteran of the Vietnam war era.  The Consultant shall take 
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed and that employees are 
treated during employment without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, national 
origin, physical handicap, age, status as a disabled veteran, or veteran of the Vietnam 
war era.  Such actions shall include, but not be limited to the following:  employment, 
upgrading, demotions, or transfers; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoffs or 
terminations; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; selection for training, 
including apprenticeship; and participation in recreational and educational activities.  
The Consultant agrees to post in conspicuous places available for employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided setting forth the provisions of this 
nondiscrimination clause.  The Consultant will, in all solicitations or advertisements for 
employees placed by or on behalf of the Consultant; state that all qualified applicants 
will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin, physical handicap, age, or status as a disabled veteran, or veteran of the 
Vietnam war era.  The Consultant will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all 
subcontracts for any work covered by this Agreement. 

B. The Consultant shall keep such records and submit such reports concerning the equal 
opportunity employment provisions set forth in subsection 12(A) for applicants for 
employment and employees as the City may require. 

 

Section 14 Interest of Members of City and Others 
No officer, member or employee of the City and no member of its governing body, and no other 
public official of the governing body shall participate in any decision relating to this Agreement 
which affects their personal interest or the interest of any corporation, partnership or 
association in which they are, directly or indirectly, interested or having any personal or 
pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof. 
 
Section 15 Assignability 

A. The Consultant shall not assign any interest in this Agreement and shall not transfer any 
interest in the same (whether by assignment or novation) without the prior written 
consent of the City, thereto; provided, however that claims for money due or to become 
due to the Consultant from the City under this Agreement may be assigned by court 
order or to a bank, trust company, or other financial institution without such approval.  
Notice of any such assignment or transfer shall be furnished promptly to the City, or the 
Consultant shall be responsible to the City for any moneys due the assignee of this 
Agreement which are paid directly to the Consultant. 

112



 

25 
 

B. The Consultant shall not delegate duties or otherwise subcontract work or services 
under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the City. 

 

Section 16 Interest of Consultant 
The Consultant covenants, that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, 
direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of 
services required to be performed under this Agreement.  The Consultant further covenants 
that in the performance of this Agreement no person having any such interest shall be 
employed. 
 
Section 17 Findings Confidential 
To the extent permitted or required by law any reports, information, data, etc., given to or 
prepared or assembled by the Consultant under this Agreement which the City requests to be 
kept confidential shall not be made available to any individual or organization by the Consultant 
without the prior written approval of the City. 
 
Section 18 Publication, Reproduction and Use of Materials 
No material produced, in whole or in part, under this Agreement shall be subject to copyright in 
the United States or in any other country.  The City shall have unrestricted authority to publish, 
disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, any reports, data or other materials 
prepared under this Agreement. 
 
Section 19 Audits and Inspections 
At any time during normal business hours and as often as the City or the Comptroller General of 
the United States may deem necessary, there shall be made available for examination all of its 
records with respect to all matters covered by this Agreement and will permit representatives 
of the City or the Comptroller General to audit, examine, and make excerpts or transcripts from 
such records, and to make audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of 
personnel, conditions of employment, and other data relating to all matters covered by this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 20 Jurisdiction; Choice of Law 
Any civil action arising from this Agreement shall be brought in the Superior Court for the 
Fourth Judicial District of the State of Alaska at Bethel.  The law of the State of Alaska shall 
govern the rights and obligations of the parties. 
 
Section 21 Non-Waiver 
The failure of the City at any time to enforce a provision of this Agreement shall in no way 
constitute a waiver of the provisions, nor in any way affect the validity of this Agreement or any 
part thereof, or the right of the City thereafter to enforce each and every protection hereof. 
 
Section 22 Permits, Laws and Taxes 
The Consultant shall acquire and maintain in good standing all permits, licenses and other 
entitlements necessary to the performance under this Agreement.  All actions taken by the 

113



 

26 
 

Consultant under this Agreement shall comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules 
and regulations.  The Consultant shall pay all taxes pertaining to its performance under this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 23 Relationship of the Parties 
The Consultant shall perform its obligations hereunder as an independent Consultant of the 
City.  The City may administer this Agreement and monitor the Consultant’s compliance with 
this Agreement but shall not supervise or otherwise direct the Consultant except to provide 
recommendations and to provide approvals pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
Section 24 Agreement Administration 

A. The City Manager, or their designee, will be the representative of the City administering 
this Agreement. 

B. The services to be furnished by the Consultant shall be administered, supervised, and 
directed by Bill Arnold, Public Works Director. In the event that the individual named 
above or any of the individuals identified in the proposal to perform work under the 
Agreement is unable to serve for any reason, the Consultant shall appoint a successor in 
interest subject to a written approval of the City of Bethel. 

 
Section 25 Integration 
This instrument and all appendices and amendments hereto embody the entire agreement of 
the parties.  There are no promises, terms, conditions or obligations other than those contained 
herein; and this Agreement shall supersede all previous communications, representations or 
agreements, either oral or written, between the parties.  To the extent they are not 
inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, the following documents are incorporated by 
reference into this Agreement as if fully set forth herein: 

1. Request for Proposal for Engineering and Planning Services 
2. Proposal Submitted by      
3. Fee Proposal submitted by     

 
Section 26 Defense and Indemnification 
The Consultant shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the City from and against any claim 
of, or liability for wrongful or negligent acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant under this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, costs, attorneys’ fees, expenses and claims.  The 
Consultant shall not be required to indemnify the City for a claim of, or liability for, the 
independent negligence of the City.  If there is a claim of, or liability for, the joint negligent 
error or omission of the Consultant and the independent negligence of the City, the 
indemnification and hold harmless obligation shall be apportioned on a comparative fault basis.  
“Consultant” and “City,” as used within this article, include the employees, agents and other 
Consultants/contractors who are directly responsible, respectively, to each.  The term 
“independent negligence” is negligence other than in the City’s selection, administration, 
monitoring, or controlling of the Consultant and in approving or accepting the Consultant’s 
work.  The indemnification obligation under this Agreement shall not be limited in any way by 
any restriction on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable to or for 

114



 

27 
 

any third party, or any employee under any worker’s compensation act, disability benefit act, or 
other employee benefit act.  Entitlement to recovery of costs, attorneys’ fees and expenses 
under the indemnification obligation shall include all fees, costs, and expenses incurred in good 
faith by the City. 
 
Section 27 Interpretation and Enforcement 
This Agreement is being executed by the parties following negotiations between them.  It shall 
be construed according to the fair intent of the language as a whole, not for or against any 
party.  The titles of sections in this Agreement are not to be construed as limitations or 
definitions but are for identification purposes only.  
 
Section 28 Insurance  
It is specifically agreed between the parties executing this Agreement that it is not intended by 
any of the provisions of the Agreement to create in the public or any member thereof a third 
party benefit hereunder, or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 
suit for personal injuries or property damage pursuant to the terms or provisions of this 
Agreement. 
The Consultant shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully 
authorized to do business in the State of Alaska as admitted insurers or surplus lines insurers 
approved by City, such insurance as will protect the Consultant from claims set forth below and 
others, which may arise out of or as a result from the Consultant’s operations under this 
Agreement, whether such operations are by the Consultant or by a sub-Consultant or by 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of 
them may be liable. Restrictions, conditions or exclusions contained in the insurance policies 
shall not reduce the obligations of the Consultant under this Agreement. 
 

The Consultant shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully 
authorized to do business in the State of Alaska as admitted insurers or surplus lines insurers 
approved by Bethel, such insurance as will protect the Consultant from claims set forth below 
and others,  which may arise out of or as a result from the Consultant’s operations under this 
contract, whether such operations are by the Consultant or by a sub-Consultant or by anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may 
be liable. Restrictions, conditions or exclusions contained in the insurance policies shall not 
reduce the obligations of the Consultant under this contract. 

a. Claims under worker’s compensation, employers liability, disability benefits, and other 
similar employee benefit acts which are applicable to the work to be performed under 
this Agreement. 

 
Claims for damages because of bodily injury, mental anguish, sickness, disease or death 
of any person other than the Consultant’s employees. 
 

115



 

28 
 

Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability insurance coverage which 
are sustained (1) by a person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the 
employment of such person by the Consultant, or (2) by any other person or entity. 
 
 Claims for damages, other than to the product supplied, or to the services performed,  
itself because of damage to or destruction of tangible property, including loss of use 
resulting therefrom. 
 
 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, including death of a person, or damage to 
property arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle. 
 
Claims involving the Consultant’s Contractual obligations and assumption of liability 
under this Agreement. 
 
Liability insurance shall include at a minimum, all major divisions of coverage and be on 
a commercial general liability form including: 

  Premises/Operations Liability 
  Products/Completed Operations Liability 
  Personal/Advertising Injury Liability 
  Fire Damage Liability 
  Medical Payments 
  Professional (Errors & Omissions) Liability (may be a separate policy) 
 
b. The insurance required in II including subsection (a.), shall be written for not less than 

the limits listed in (c.) below or those limits required by law, whichever limit is higher.   
Insurance, whether written on an occurrence, or a claims-made basis, shall be 
maintained without interruption from the date of commencement of the work to the 
date of final payment, or termination of any insurance required to be maintained after 
final payment. 

 
c.  The insurance required in II including subsection (a.) shall be written for not less than 

the following limits: 
 

1. Worker’s Compensation Insurance:    

 Statutory Requirements of the State of Alaska, and Employer Liability Insurance limits 
of:       
 $500,000.00 each accident. 

$500,000.00 disease each employee. 
 $500,000.00 disease policy limit. 

 
2. Commercial General Liability Insurance: Form CG0001 04/13 or equivalent. 
$1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit of Liability per Occurrence                                    
$1,000,000.00 Personal/Advertising Injury Limit of Liability per Occurrence 

116



 

29 
 

$2,000,000.00 Annual General Aggregate Limit of Liability                                         
$2,000,000.00 Annual Products/Completed Operations Aggregate Limit of Liability                                                        
$100,000.00 Fire Damage Limit of Liability Any One Fire                                          
$5,000.00 Medical Payment Limit Any One Person 
 

3.  Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance: Form CA0001 03/10 or equivalent.  
 $1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit of Liability per Accident for all Owned, Hired, and 

Non-Owned Vehicles.  
  
4.  Professional (Errors & Omissions) Liability Insurance: 

$1,000,000.00 Limit of Liability per Claim.                                                                                
$2,000,000.00 Limit of Liability Annual Aggregate for all Claims. 
 

 Retroactive date: Prior to effective date of contract. 
 
 Effective date: Prior to effective date of contract, and for at least 24 months after 

completion of contract. 
d.  Worker’s compensation insurance and employers liability insurance shall be in 

compliance with the statutory requirements of the State of Alaska, and any other 
statutory obligation, whether federal or state pertaining to compensation of injured 
employees.   The worker’s compensation insurance and employers liability insurance 
shall contain a waiver of subrogation provision in favor of Bethel. 

 
e. The commercial general liability insurance shall name Bethel as an additional insured as 

respects this contract. 
 
f.  Consultant’s required insurance is subject to review and adjustment by Bethel, who may 

require reasonable changes in the amounts and types of insurance based upon changes 
of risk.  Consultant shall be provided a written explanation for any such changes. 

 
g.  Certificates of insurance acceptable to Bethel shall be filed with Bethel prior to the 

commencement of the beginning of any services by the Consultant.  These certificates 
and the insurance policies shall contain a provision that the policy shall not be canceled 
until prior written notice has been sent to the insured (Consultant). 

 
If any of the insurance policies required above are canceled for any reason, the 
Consultant shall provide immediate notice to Bethel of the cancellation and either 
provide:  evidence of replacement or notice of reinstatement. Immediately in this 
section means within five (5) business days of receipt of cancellation by the Consultant.   
 

 Failure to maintain these insurance provisions required of the Consultant or failure to 
immediately notify Bethel of cancellation shall be considered a material breach of this 
contract by the Consultant, subject to termination provisions of this contract.   

 

117



 

30 
 

 Immediate notice described above shall be by confirmed delivery to the following 
location:  

 
 City of Bethel 
 Attn: Finance Director 
 P.O. Box 1388 
 Bethel, AK  99559 
 
Section 29 Severability 
If any section or clause of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or 
is otherwise invalid under the law, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect.  
 
Section 30 Understanding 
The Consultant acknowledges that the Consultant has read and understands the terms of this 
Agreement, has had the opportunity to review the same with counsel of their choice, and is 
executing this Agreement of their own free will. 
 
Section 31 Notices 
Any notice required pertaining to the subject matter of the Agreement shall be personally 
delivered or mailed by prepaid first-class, registered or certified mail to the following address: 
 

City:   City of Bethel 
   Attn: Legal Department 
   PO Box 1388 
   Bethel AK 99559-1388 
 
Consultant:   
 

Section 32 Engineers’ Violations of Tax Obligations 
A. Any Consultant in arrears on a City obligation, including, but not limited to tax, 

assessment, lease, sale, or rental payments, whether as an individual, or as a 
representative of a business, organization, firm, corporation, or partnership, shall not be 
awarded the Agreement if the delinquency is not cured within ten calendar days of 
receipt of written notice sent by the City of the delinquency. 
 

B. This Agreement can be terminated for cause, pursuant to Section 8, if it is determined 
that the Consultant whether the amounts owed are in the name of the Consultant as an 
individual or as a representative of a firm, business, corporation, or partnership, is in 
arrears of any taxation, lease or rental agreement that is due to the City that is not 
remedied within 10 calendar days of notification by regular mail. 

 

118



 

31 
 

C. The City reserves any right it may have to offset amounts owed by an individual, firm, 
corporation or business for delinquent City taxes, moneys owed on sales, assessments, 
leases and rental agreements, against any amount owing to the same under an 
Agreement between the City and the same. 

 

CITY OF BETHEL     [CONSULTANT] 
 
 
 
              
Peter A. Williams     By: 
City Manager      Title:    

119



 

32 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK 

FOR 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING & PLANNING SERVICES 

 

To be determined based on project 

  

120



 

33 
 

EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION AND EXPENSE SCHEDULE 

FOR 

[TBD] 

 

Item Description Not to Exceed 
Amount 

Travel Airfare from (xxx) to Bethel  

Lodging Lodging in Bethel (per night)  

Per Diem In Bethel  

Employee 1 Standard Rate  

Employee 2 Standard Rate  

Copy Fees   

   

 TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED $ 

 

 

 

121



Page 1 of 11 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

FOR 
 

PROFESSIONAL ENGINNERING & PLANNING SERVICES 
 

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into this _______day of October 2017, by and between 
the CITY OF BETHEL and       . 
 

Section 01 Definition 
In this Agreement: 
A. The term “City” means the City of Bethel. 
B. The term “Consultant” means     .   
C. The term “Manager” means the manager of the City of Bethel or their authorized 
representative. 
 
Section 02 Engagement of Consultant 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Consultant and the Consultant hereby agrees to perform 
the services hereafter set forth. 
 
Section 03 Scope of Services 
The Consultant shall perform all the services customary to civil engineering and planning on an 
as-needed basis pursuant to this Agreement and as mutually agreed to and described in  
provided for by this Agreement which are described with particularity in Exhibit “A, #  ,” 
entitled Scope of Services, to be attached to each project.   
 
Section 04 Availability of Consultant 
Consultant’s occasional unavailability or inability to assist with a particular project shall not be 
considered a breach of this Agreement.  In the situation where Consultant is unavailable or 
unable to perform the requested as-needed services, Consultant shall decline the work, in 
writing, within five (5) calendar days of the request for assistance.  In such situation, the City 
may contact another firm to perform the declined services without being in breach of this 
Agreement.  City’s use of the alternate firm shall be limited to those situations where 
Consultant provides written notice of unavailability or inability to assist.    
 

Section 05 Personnel 
Personnel shall be limited to employees of     . 
 
Section 06 Term of Engagement 
The services of the Consultant shall be on an as-needed basis by the City from the period of 
October 25, 2017 through June 30, 2022.   
 

122



Page 2 of 11 
 

Section 07 Compensation 
A. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the City shall pay the Consultant for all 

services and expenses for the term of this Agreement the sums as set forth in Exhibit 
“B,” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, for services requested 
under this Agreement. 

B. Travel or per diem Exhibit “B.”   
C. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City shall not provide any 

additional compensation, payment, use of facilities, service or other thing of value to 
the Consultant in connection with performance of Agreement duties.  The parties 
understand and agree that, except as otherwise provided in this section, administrative 
overhead and other indirect or direct costs the Consultant may incur in the performance 
of its obligations under this Agreement have already been included in computation of 
the Consultant’s fee and may not be charged to the City. 

D.  It is understood the sums stated in this Agreement are the per/hour fees for service and 
the rates for certain items such as travel, lodging, photocopies, etc., and are not 
inclusive of the total cost of each project.  

E.  It is understood the total cost of each project shall be negotiated in advance of each 
project and attached to this Agreement as Exhibit “C, #  .”  

 
Section 08 Method and Time of Payment 

A. The City will pay to the Consultant the amounts set forth in Exhibit “C” which shall 
constitute the full and complete compensation for the Consultant’s professional 
services.  That sum will be paid on receipt of billings submitted pursuant to a schedule 
set forth in Exhibits “B and C.”  If not identified within Exhibit “B,” normal billing cycle is 
30 calendar days from receipt of an approved invoice.  A billing is a summary of 
expenditures to date by line item categories (e.g., Personal Services, Travel, Contractual, 
Commodities and Equipment).  Documentation of expenditures need not be submitted 
with billings but must be retained by the Consultant in the event the City requests said 
documentation.  Funds for this agreement are subject to appropriation by the Bethel 
City Council. 

B. No payment will be disbursed until the completed task and associated expenditures 
have been approved by the City.   

C. All invoices must be submitted in duplicate and addressed as follows: 
City of Bethel 

Attn: City Manager 
PO Box 1388 

Bethel AK 99559-1388 
 

Section 09 Termination of Agreement for Cause 
If, through any cause, the Consultant shall fail to fulfill in a timely and proper manner the 
obligations under this Agreement or if the Consultant shall violate any of the covenants, 
agreements, or stipulations of this Agreement, the City shall thereupon have the right to 
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to the Consultant of such termination and 
specifying the effective date thereof, at least twenty (20) days before the effective date of such 

123



Page 3 of 11 
 

termination.  All finished or unfinished documents, data, studies, surveys and reports or other 
material prepared by the Consultant under this Agreement are the property of the City and 
shall be delivered to the City by or upon the effective date of termination.  The Consultant shall 
be entitled to receive compensation in accordance with the payment provisions of Exhibit “B” 
of this Agreement only for work completed to the City’s satisfaction in accordance with Exhibit 
“A” of this Agreement and the other terms of this Agreement. 
 
Section 10 Termination for Convenience of City 
The City may terminate this contract at any time by giving written notice to the Consultant of 
such termination and specifying the effective date of such termination.  All finished or 
unfinished documents and other materials as described in Section 8 above are the property of 
the City and shall be delivered to the City by or upon the effective date of execution of this 
section.  The Consultant shall be entitled to receive compensation in accordance with the 
payment provisions of Exhibit “B” of this Agreement only for work completed to the City’s 
satisfaction in accordance with Exhibit “A” of this Agreement and the other terms of this 
Agreement.  If this Agreement is terminated due to the fault of the Consultant, Section 8 of this 
Agreement shall govern the rights and liabilities of the parties. 
 
Section 11 Causes Beyond Control 
In the event the Consultant is prevented by a cause or causes beyond control of the Consultant 
from performing any obligation of this Agreement, non-performance resulting from such cause 
or causes shall not be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement which will render the 
Consultant liable for damages or give rights to the cancellation of the Agreement for cause.  
However, if and when such cause or causes cease to prevent performance, the Consultant shall 
exercise all reasonable diligence to resume and complete performance of the obligation with 
the least possible delay.  The phrase “cause or causes beyond control,” as used in this section, 
means any one or more of the following causes which are not attributable to the fault or 
negligence of the Consultant and which prevent the performance of the Consultant:  fire, 
explosions, acts of God, war, orders or law of duly constituted public authorities, and other 
major uncontrollable and unavoidable events, all of the foregoing which must actually prevent 
the Consultant from performing the terms of the Agreement as set forth herein.  Events which 
are peculiar to the Consultant and would not prevent another Consultant from performing, 
including, but not limited to financial difficulties, are not causes beyond the control of the 
Consultant.  The City will determine whether the event preventing the Consultant from 
performing is a cause beyond the Consultant’s control. 
 
Section 12 Modifications 

A. The parties may mutually agree to modify the terms of the Agreement.  Modifications to 
the Agreement shall be incorporated into the Agreement by written amendments.  

B. It is expressly understood that the City may require changes in the scope of services and 
an unreasonable refusal by the Consultant to agree to modification in the scope of 
services will be the basis for termination of the Agreement for cause.  It is expressly 
understood that the total amount of compensation for successful performance of the 

124



Page 4 of 11 
 

Agreement will not be modified, under any circumstances, without prior written 
approval of the City. 

 
Section 13 Equal Employment Opportunity 

A. The Consultant will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 
because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, physical handicap, age, status as a 
disabled veteran, or veteran of the Vietnam war era.  The Consultant shall take 
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed and that employees are 
treated during employment without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, national 
origin, physical handicap, age, status as a disabled veteran, or veteran of the Vietnam 
war era.  Such actions shall include, but not be limited to the following:  employment, 
upgrading, demotions, or transfers; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoffs or 
terminations; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; selection for training, 
including apprenticeship; and participation in recreational and educational activities.  
The Consultant agrees to post in conspicuous places available for employees and 
applicants for employment, notices to be provided setting forth the provisions of this 
nondiscrimination clause.  The Consultant will, in all solicitations or advertisements for 
employees placed by or on behalf of the Consultant; state that all qualified applicants 
will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, 
national origin, physical handicap, age, or status as a disabled veteran, or veteran of the 
Vietnam war era.  The Consultant will cause the foregoing provisions to be inserted in all 
subcontracts for any work covered by this Agreement. 

B. The Consultant shall keep such records and submit such reports concerning the equal 
opportunity employment provisions set forth in subsection 12(A) for applicants for 
employment and employees as the City may require. 

 

Section 14 Interest of Members of City and Others 
No officer, member or employee of the City and no member of its governing body, and no other 
public official of the governing body shall participate in any decision relating to this Agreement 
which affects their personal interest or the interest of any corporation, partnership or 
association in which they are, directly or indirectly, interested or having any personal or 
pecuniary interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof. 
 
Section 15 Assignability 

A. The Consultant shall not assign any interest in this Agreement and shall not transfer any 
interest in the same (whether by assignment or novation) without the prior written 
consent of the City, thereto; provided, however that claims for money due or to become 
due to the Consultant from the City under this Agreement may be assigned by court 
order or to a bank, trust company, or other financial institution without such approval.  
Notice of any such assignment or transfer shall be furnished promptly to the City, or the 
Consultant shall be responsible to the City for any moneys due the assignee of this 
Agreement which are paid directly to the Consultant. 

125



Page 5 of 11 
 

B. The Consultant shall not delegate duties or otherwise subcontract work or services 
under this Agreement without the prior written approval of the City. 

 

Section 16 Interest of Consultant 
The Consultant covenants, that it presently has no interest and shall not acquire any interest, 
direct or indirect, which would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of 
services required to be performed under this Agreement.  The Consultant further covenants 
that in the performance of this Agreement no person having any such interest shall be 
employed. 
 
Section 17 Findings Confidential 
To the extent permitted or required by law any reports, information, data, etc., given to or 
prepared or assembled by the Consultant under this Agreement which the City requests to be 
kept confidential shall not be made available to any individual or organization by the Consultant 
without the prior written approval of the City. 
 
Section 18 Publication, Reproduction and Use of Materials 
No material produced, in whole or in part, under this Agreement shall be subject to copyright in 
the United States or in any other country.  The City shall have unrestricted authority to publish, 
disclose, distribute and otherwise use, in whole or in part, any reports, data or other materials 
prepared under this Agreement. 
 
Section 19 Audits and Inspections 
At any time during normal business hours and as often as the City or the Comptroller General of 
the United States may deem necessary, there shall be made available for examination all of its 
records with respect to all matters covered by this Agreement and will permit representatives 
of the City or the Comptroller General to audit, examine, and make excerpts or transcripts from 
such records, and to make audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, payrolls, records of 
personnel, conditions of employment, and other data relating to all matters covered by this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 20 Jurisdiction; Choice of Law 
Any civil action arising from this Agreement shall be brought in the Superior Court for the 
Fourth Judicial District of the State of Alaska at Bethel.  The law of the State of Alaska shall 
govern the rights and obligations of the parties. 
 
Section 21 Non-Waiver 
The failure of the City at any time to enforce a provision of this Agreement shall in no way 
constitute a waiver of the provisions, nor in any way affect the validity of this Agreement or any 
part thereof, or the right of the City thereafter to enforce each and every protection hereof. 
 
Section 22 Permits, Laws and Taxes 
The Consultant shall acquire and maintain in good standing all permits, licenses and other 
entitlements necessary to the performance under this Agreement.  All actions taken by the 

126



Page 6 of 11 
 

Consultant under this Agreement shall comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules 
and regulations.  The Consultant shall pay all taxes pertaining to its performance under this 
Agreement. 
 
Section 23 Relationship of the Parties 
The Consultant shall perform its obligations hereunder as an independent Consultant of the 
City.  The City may administer this Agreement and monitor the Consultant’s compliance with 
this Agreement but shall not supervise or otherwise direct the Consultant except to provide 
recommendations and to provide approvals pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
Section 24 Agreement Administration 

A. The City Manager, or their designee, will be the representative of the City administering 
this Agreement. 

B. The services to be furnished by the Consultant shall be administered, supervised, and 
directed by Bill Arnold, Public Works Director. In the event that the individual named 
above or any of the individuals identified in the proposal to perform work under the 
Agreement is unable to serve for any reason, the Consultant shall appoint a successor in 
interest subject to a written approval of the City of Bethel. 

 
Section 25 Integration 
This instrument and all appendices and amendments hereto embody the entire agreement of 
the parties.  There are no promises, terms, conditions or obligations other than those contained 
herein; and this Agreement shall supersede all previous communications, representations or 
agreements, either oral or written, between the parties.  To the extent they are not 
inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement, the following documents are incorporated by 
reference into this Agreement as if fully set forth herein: 

1. Request for Proposal for Engineering and Planning Services 
2. Proposal Submitted by     
3. Fee Proposal submitted by     

 
Section 26 Defense and Indemnification 
The Consultant shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend the City from and against any claim 
of, or liability for wrongful or negligent acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant under this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, costs, attorneys’ fees, expenses and claims.  The 
Consultant shall not be required to indemnify the City for a claim of, or liability for, the 
independent negligence of the City.  If there is a claim of, or liability for, the joint negligent 
error or omission of the Consultant and the independent negligence of the City, the 
indemnification and hold harmless obligation shall be apportioned on a comparative fault basis.  
“Consultant” and “City,” as used within this article, include the employees, agents and other 
Consultants/contractors who are directly responsible, respectively, to each.  The term 
“independent negligence” is negligence other than in the City’s selection, administration, 
monitoring, or controlling of the Consultant and in approving or accepting the Consultant’s 
work.  The indemnification obligation under this Agreement shall not be limited in any way by 
any restriction on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable to or for 

127



Page 7 of 11 
 

any third party, or any employee under any worker’s compensation act, disability benefit act, or 
other employee benefit act.  Entitlement to recovery of costs, attorneys’ fees and expenses 
under the indemnification obligation shall include all fees, costs, and expenses incurred in good 
faith by the City. 
 
Section 27 Interpretation and Enforcement 
This Agreement is being executed by the parties following negotiations between them.  It shall 
be construed according to the fair intent of the language as a whole, not for or against any 
party.  The titles of sections in this Agreement are not to be construed as limitations or 
definitions but are for identification purposes only.  
 
Section 28 Insurance  
It is specifically agreed between the parties executing this Agreement that it is not intended by 
any of the provisions of the Agreement to create in the public or any member thereof a third 
party benefit hereunder, or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 
suit for personal injuries or property damage pursuant to the terms or provisions of this 
Agreement. 
The Consultant shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully 
authorized to do business in the State of Alaska as admitted insurers or surplus lines insurers 
approved by City, such insurance as will protect the Consultant from claims set forth below and 
others, which may arise out of or as a result from the Consultant’s operations under this 
Agreement, whether such operations are by the Consultant or by a sub-Consultant or by 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of 
them may be liable. Restrictions, conditions or exclusions contained in the insurance policies 
shall not reduce the obligations of the Consultant under this Agreement. 
 

The Consultant shall purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully 
authorized to do business in the State of Alaska as admitted insurers or surplus lines insurers 
approved by Bethel, such insurance as will protect the Consultant from claims set forth below 
and others,  which may arise out of or as a result from the Consultant’s operations under this 
contract, whether such operations are by the Consultant or by a sub-Consultant or by anyone 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may 
be liable. Restrictions, conditions or exclusions contained in the insurance policies shall not 
reduce the obligations of the Consultant under this contract. 

a. Claims under worker’s compensation, employers liability, disability benefits, and other 
similar employee benefit acts which are applicable to the work to be performed under 
this Agreement. 

 
Claims for damages because of bodily injury, mental anguish, sickness, disease or death 
of any person other than the Consultant’s employees. 
 

128



Page 8 of 11 
 

Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability insurance coverage which 
are sustained (1) by a person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the 
employment of such person by the Consultant, or (2) by any other person or entity. 
 
 Claims for damages, other than to the product supplied, or to the services performed,  
itself because of damage to or destruction of tangible property, including loss of use 
resulting therefrom. 
 
 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, including death of a person, or damage to 
property arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of any motor vehicle. 
 
Claims involving the Consultant’s Contractual obligations and assumption of liability 
under this Agreement. 
 
Liability insurance shall include at a minimum, all major divisions of coverage and be on 
a commercial general liability form including: 

  Premises/Operations Liability 
  Products/Completed Operations Liability 
  Personal/Advertising Injury Liability 
  Fire Damage Liability 
  Medical Payments 
  Professional (Errors & Omissions) Liability (may be a separate policy) 
 
b. The insurance required in II including subsection (a.), shall be written for not less than 

the limits listed in (c.) below or those limits required by law, whichever limit is higher.   
Insurance, whether written on an occurrence, or a claims-made basis, shall be 
maintained without interruption from the date of commencement of the work to the 
date of final payment, or termination of any insurance required to be maintained after 
final payment. 

 
c.  The insurance required in II including subsection (a.) shall be written for not less than 

the following limits: 
 

1. Worker’s Compensation Insurance:    

 Statutory Requirements of the State of Alaska, and Employer Liability Insurance limits 
of:       
 $500,000.00 each accident. 

$500,000.00 disease each employee. 
 $500,000.00 disease policy limit. 

 
2. Commercial General Liability Insurance: Form CG0001 04/13 or equivalent. 
$1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit of Liability per Occurrence                                    
$1,000,000.00 Personal/Advertising Injury Limit of Liability per Occurrence 

129



Page 9 of 11 
 

$2,000,000.00 Annual General Aggregate Limit of Liability                                         
$2,000,000.00 Annual Products/Completed Operations Aggregate Limit of Liability                                                        
$100,000.00 Fire Damage Limit of Liability Any One Fire                                          
$5,000.00 Medical Payment Limit Any One Person 
 

3.  Commercial Automobile Liability Insurance: Form CA0001 03/10 or equivalent.  
 $1,000,000.00 Combined Single Limit of Liability per Accident for all Owned, Hired, and 

Non-Owned Vehicles.  
  
4.  Professional (Errors & Omissions) Liability Insurance: 

$1,000,000.00 Limit of Liability per Claim.                                                                                
$2,000,000.00 Limit of Liability Annual Aggregate for all Claims. 
 

 Retroactive date: Prior to effective date of contract. 
 
 Effective date: Prior to effective date of contract, and for at least 24 months after 

completion of contract. 
d.  Worker’s compensation insurance and employers liability insurance shall be in 

compliance with the statutory requirements of the State of Alaska, and any other 
statutory obligation, whether federal or state pertaining to compensation of injured 
employees.   The worker’s compensation insurance and employers liability insurance 
shall contain a waiver of subrogation provision in favor of Bethel. 

 
e. The commercial general liability insurance shall name Bethel as an additional insured as 

respects this contract. 
 
f.  Consultant’s required insurance is subject to review and adjustment by Bethel, who may 

require reasonable changes in the amounts and types of insurance based upon changes 
of risk.  Consultant shall be provided a written explanation for any such changes. 

 
g.  Certificates of insurance acceptable to Bethel shall be filed with Bethel prior to the 

commencement of the beginning of any services by the Consultant.  These certificates 
and the insurance policies shall contain a provision that the policy shall not be canceled 
until prior written notice has been sent to the insured (Consultant). 

 
If any of the insurance policies required above are canceled for any reason, the 
Consultant shall provide immediate notice to Bethel of the cancellation and either 
provide:  evidence of replacement or notice of reinstatement. Immediately in this 
section means within five (5) business days of receipt of cancellation by the Consultant.   
 

 Failure to maintain these insurance provisions required of the Consultant or failure to 
immediately notify Bethel of cancellation shall be considered a material breach of this 
contract by the Consultant, subject to termination provisions of this contract.   

 

130



Page 10 of 11 
 

 Immediate notice described above shall be by confirmed delivery to the following 
location:  

 
 City of Bethel 
 Attn: Finance Director 
 P.O. Box 1388 
 Bethel, AK  99559 
 
Section 29 Severability 
If any section or clause of this Agreement is held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or 
is otherwise invalid under the law, the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect.  
 
Section 30 Understanding 
The Consultant acknowledges that the Consultant has read and understands the terms of this 
Agreement, has had the opportunity to review the same with counsel of their choice, and is 
executing this Agreement of their own free will. 
 
Section 31 Notices 
Any notice required pertaining to the subject matter of the Agreement shall be personally 
delivered or mailed by prepaid first-class, registered or certified mail to the following address: 
 

City:   City of Bethel 
   Attn: Legal Department 
   PO Box 1388 
   Bethel AK 99559-1388 
 
Consultant:   
 
 

Section 32 Engineers’ Violations of Tax Obligations 
A. Any Consultant in arrears on a City obligation, including, but not limited to tax, 

assessment, lease, sale, or rental payments, whether as an individual, or as a 
representative of a business, organization, firm, corporation, or partnership, shall not be 
awarded the Agreement if the delinquency is not cured within ten calendar days of 
receipt of written notice sent by the City of the delinquency. 
 

B. This Agreement can be terminated for cause, pursuant to Section 8, if it is determined 
that the Consultant whether the amounts owed are in the name of the Consultant as an 
individual or as a representative of a firm, business, corporation, or partnership, is in 
arrears of any taxation, lease or rental agreement that is due to the City that is not 
remedied within 10 calendar days of notification by regular mail. 

 

131



Page 11 of 11 
 

C. The City reserves any right it may have to offset amounts owed by an individual, firm, 
corporation or business for delinquent City taxes, moneys owed on sales, assessments, 
leases and rental agreements, against any amount owing to the same under an 
Agreement between the City and the same. 

 

CITY OF BETHEL      
 
 
 
              
Peter A. Williams     By: 
City Manager      Title:   

132



 

Mayor’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133



November 2017 

Schedule of Events 

Yukon Kuskokwim Health Corporation 

Diabetes Prevention and Control 

National Diabetes Month 

Join YKHC’s Diabetes Prevention and Control Department to recognize National Diabetes 

Month.  Department staff will be offering A1C Screenings, healthy recipes, participation in-

centives, and more 

Date/Time Event 

YKHC Hospital Lobby Booth 

YKHC Hospital Lobby Booth 

 

YKHC Hospital Lobby Booth 

YKHC Hospital Lobby Booth 

Phone: 907-543-6133 

Fax: 907-543-6104 

E-mail: diabetes_program@ykhc.org 

Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation 

PO Box 528 

Bethel, AK  99559 

 

134



 

City Manager’s Report 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135



BETHEL CITY MANAGERS REPORT  

October 4 to October 18, 2017  

Intuitional Corridor-10/11 -Construction will start in Feb. We are still waiting for a 

utility permit from the DOT for the pipeline crossing the Chief Eddie Hoffman Highway 

(CEH). Request For Information (RFI) for electrical components from the contractor is 

still pending. DOWL has been ask by SOA DOC to provide a simple design for water 

services for both DOC and YKFF. I have talk to BNC about services for the Kipusvik 

Bldg. and I have not heard for sure but I expect they will be planning to connect to the 

water line during construction. The new 54 Unit Apt building, Pre-Maternal Home, 

Assisted Living facility, Sleep-Off Center, PATC, Fed. Fish and Wildlife building and 

maybe the Post Office will receive services. The current hospital and YKHC 

administration building are tied together and if they will hook up before the new 

hospital is completed is still is question. I in intend to re- start discussions about their 

services sometime this month. 

Sewer Lagoon/Jetty Project- 10/4- Stakeholders meet to discuss removing the 

stockpiled tailings too the landfill. We received the DEC permit to remove the stockpiled 

tailings to the landfill. 10/13 Project is finished but not closed out. Constructing the 

Jetty is the next step of this project and will start next spring; the design is 65% 

complete.  

Port Office-10/18 Architect, Contractor, Port Director and City Administration 

performed a final walk around and received the keys to the building. I’ve scheduled 

open house for October 23. USACE will visit Oct 26th. 

Finance Dept.  –Meet with the Finance Director and discussed purchasing procedures, 

uploading the FY-18 budget into Caselle and insurance, utility billing, fund balances, FY 

16 and 17 Audits. 

Courthouse- 10/17/17 Notified the Courts Admin. and Facility Manger of our intention 

That we are still considering their offer. 

Fire Dept.-New ambulance was paid for licensed, insured, and released from the shop 

on 10/17/17. 

East Ave. – BIA will be here on Oct. 24-26 too look at the Yukon Lodge,First,Second 

and Third Streets. 

W & S TRUCKS – 10/13 – A water and sewer truck each had their engines blow up. 

The engines are $25,000 each, these will be shipped to Anchorage to be re-built. One 

of the engines failure seemed to be due normal wear and tear the other from 

negligence, driver failed to check the oil. The chassis for the Sterling trucks are not in 

production anymore and parts are hard to come by. We are still exploring the 

136



2 

configuration of the new trucks. The configuration floor, the chassis, has been 

determined. Now we are looking at the specifications for the tanks on the trucks. They 

are listed at $121,000 and we are exploring the option of the need to put these tanks 

out to bid. 

YKFC- Please read the memo that is attached to this report. 

APEI/COMBS-10-12- Our insurance carrier and broker meet with city administration 

for the day to discuss our claims. I am expecting a report from APEI and our insurance 

broker. A lot of the discussion centered on the police department policies, the accidents 

by the water and sewer trucks and water tanks that are being overfilled.  We spent 

considerable time reviewing training and safety material with regard to what programs 

are available, used and reported. The Departments will be using this material as we 

move forward. I think practical training in the field is important and I hope we can set 

up routine training programs. APEI will perform some safety inspections of our 

buildings. I personally don’t believe in accidents, I think they are preventable. Though I 

think it is only fair that we consider what our drivers are up against. Tight driveways 

that were poorly designed and are often cluttered. The water tanks do not have 

automatic shut off vales or warning lights or bells when a tank is full, nor do our trucks 

have meters that can be preset. APEI was very impressed with our employee handbook. 

 

Peter Williams, City Manger 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

137



     

 

Peter Williams 
PO BX 1388 Bethel, AK 99559 

   

10/14/17 

To; Bethel City Council 

City of Bethel 

 

Re; YKAFC 

 

Dear To; Bethel City Council, 

I would like to report about the repairs that have been ongoing at the pool since Sept. of last 

year. 

In Sept 2016, it became clear that the former Administration had some problems with 

communicating with the stakeholders responsible of the final walk through of the pool. Two 

years into the use of the building, the builders ask the City for a list of maintenance 

problems that might affect any issues regarding any warranties materials and 

workmanship. The builders did not receive a response form the City administration that I 

know about. 

There were four areas of concern that we have been dealing with since Sept, 1016. 

1. There were water leaks around the windows in the pool area. The builders discovered 

that some flashing below the windows had been incorrectly installed. In the course 

of that discovery, they found that the caulking around the windows had dried out 

allowing water too seep through. The flashing has been repaired and the caulking 

redone though there is one small leak left to re-do when the weather allows us to do 

so. 

2. In the Storage room adjacent to the pool when there was cold weather, there was a 

cloud of condensed air, a vapor cloud, which would blow over the pool from the 

138



 2    

 

storage room. This was caused by a piece of form insulation that was not installed 

during the construction of the building. That is fixed. 

3.  In the Mechanical Rm. A PV valve had not been installed on one of the water lines.  

The PV valve is now in place. The State Boiler Inspector ask us to install a emergency 

shutoff switch for the boilers. This item was not part of the originally design. The 

other issues in the mechanical were due to poor maintenance and improper settings 

of the zone valves. The zone valve in the exercise room is under the floor and piece 

of equipment might have been setting on the zone valve preventing the valve from 

functioning correctly. . I believe these installations and repairs are accomplished. 

 

4. Recently I have been notified that in the conference room, overhead, someone has cut a 

hole in the wall separating two rooms to allow warm to move freely around some 

water pipes. We are not sure why only can guess the pipes were getting cold and 

causing problems. We are working with the architects to repair the hole.  

 

Bethel Builders and Architects of Alask has been very helpful and worked free of 

charge to correct any flaws due to improper interpretation of the design by the 

architects.  We also worked with the architect in reviewing the originally plans. This 

will be important as we move forward and if any modifications are made to the 

building. 

 

In working through these problems, a future maintenance problem became 

apparent. The City does not have any equipment to assess the high areas of the 

ceiling overhead, the deck is what the architects call it. For instance, the lights over 

the pool will be a concern at some point in the future. 

 

Sincerely, 

Peter Williams, City Manger 

139



 

 
 

Management Team Reports 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

140



 

City Clerk’s Report  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

141



1 of 1 cityclerk@cityofbethel.net  

907-543-1384 

 

City of Bethel, Alaska 
City Clerk’s Office 
 

Council Meetings and Events 
November 14, meeting material may be postponed due to an expected lack of a quorum of the Council.  
November 24, Regular Meeting 
December 12, Regular Meeting 
 

Website 
The website redesign is complete. When time will allow we are continuing to address necessary content 
updates to individual pages, correct formatting glitches and produce online forms.  
 
 

Other Projects 
 

Community Action Grant- Organizing the processes and documents related to the Grant. Since a quorum of 
the body has been established the Office will work with Administration to have a recorder/ex officio 
member appointed then get the first meeting arranged.  

 
Committee/Commission Document Management- twice a year the office conducts an audit of records 
submitted by each of the committees and commission. With a number of documents missing from the 
submission list we are working with the committee recorders to get them caught up.  
We are also preparing for annual training for the recorders and Committee/Commission Members.  
 
Joint Task Force Meeting- The office reached out to Ron Hoffman with ONC to see if a date could be 
established for the next Joint Task Force Meeting. Arranging a meeting between 14+ people has proven to 
be difficult.  
 
Travel for Alaska Municipal League- The primary focus of the office this week was to ensure travel 
arrangements are made for the council members to attend the Alaska Municipal League Conference in 
November.  
 
 
 
 
 

142

mailto:cityclerk@cityofbethel.net


 

 
 

Executive Session   
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

143



 

Additional Information  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

144


	Approval of the Meeting Minutes
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Special Order of Business
	Unfinished Business
	New Business
	Mayor’s Report
	City Manager’s Report
	Management Team Reports
	City Clerk’s Report
	Executive Session



